Thesis for the Degree of Master of Science

Molecular and Physiological Studies on the Effects of Waterborne Pollutants in Pacific Oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*



Yong Ki Choi

Department of Marine Bioscience and Environment

The Graduate School

Korea Maritime University

February 2009

Molecular and Physiological Studies on the Effects of Waterborne Pollutants in Pacific Oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*

Advisor: Prof. Cheol Young Choi



A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In the Department of Marine Bioscience and Environment, the Graduate School of Korea Maritime University

February 2009

Molecular and Physiological Studies on the Effects of Waterborne Pollutants in Pacific Oyster,

Crassostrea gigas

A dissertation

by

Yong Ki Choi

Certified by	Cheol Young Choi	
	मा छ 🔍	Thesis Advisor
Accepted by	Sung Hwoan Cho	
		Chairman
	In-Seok Park	
		Member
	Cheol Young Choi	
		Member

December 2008

Contents

Page	
Contents	
List of Figures	
Abstract (in Korean) iv	
. General Introduction	
I. Experiment 1 4	
Abstract ····· 5	
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and methods	
2.1. Experimental oysters	
2.2. CdCl ₂ treatments and sampling	
2.3. Hemolymph analysis ···································	
2.4. Rapid amplification of cDNA 5' and 3' ends (RACE)	
2.5. Quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR)	
2.6. Statistical analysis	
3. Results 8	
3.1. Identification of HSP90 cDNA 8	
3.2. HSP90 mRNA expression levels	
3.3. MT mRNA expression levels	
3.4. Hemolymph analysis9	
4. Discussion ······9	
References ······ 10	

III. Experiment 2	
Abstract	
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and methods	
2.1. Experimental oysters	
2.2. Cd and TBT treatments	
2.3. Hemolymph GOT and GPT analysis	
2.4. Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂) assays	
2.5. Identification of Mn-SOD cDNA	
2.6. Rapid amplification of complementary DNA of Mn-SOD	
2.7. Phylogenetic analysis of Mn-SOD	
2.8. Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) ·····	
2.9. Quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR)	
2.10. Statistical analysis3. Results	
3.1. Identification of Mn-SOD cDNA	
3.2. Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂) concentrations	
3.3. Tissue distribution of Mn-SOD	
3.4. mRNA expression levels of Mn-SOD to Cd treatments	
3.5. mRNA expression levels of Mn-SOD to TBT treatments	
3.6. Hemolymph analysis	
4. Discussion ·····	
References	
IV Conclusion	····· 1 1

IV.	Conclusion ·····	44
V.	Acknowledgements ·····	45
VI.	References	46

List of Figures

Fig.	1.	Multiple alignment of the HSP90 gene of Pacific oyster7
Fig.	2.	Expression of HSP90 mRNA in response to cadmium treatments
Fig.	3.	Expression of MT mRNA in response to cadmium treatments 8
Fig.	4.	Changes in the levels of the enzymes GOT and GPT in the
		hemolymph of Pacific oyster with Cd treatments9
Fig.	5.	Multiple alignment of the Mn-SOD gene of Pacific oyster
Fig.	6.	Phylogenetic tree based on amino acid alignments for Mn-SOD 29
Fig.	7.	H_2O_2 concentrations in hemolymph of Pacific oyster
Fig.	8.	Tissue- specific expression of Mn-SOD mRNA 32
Fig.	9.	Response of Mn-SOD expression in Pacific oyster
Fig.	10.	Changes in the levels of the enzymes GOT and GPT in the
		hemolymph of Pacific oyster with TBT treatments
		(2) 1945 B 3

참굴, Crassostrea gigas의 해양오염물질 노출에 따른 분자 생리학적 변화

최용기

한국해양대학교 대학원 해양생명환경학과

요 약

ANTIME UM

카드뮴은 급속한 산업 발달에 따라 복잡하고 다양한 형태로 수서 환경으로 유입되며, 유입된 카드뮴은 그 양이 소량일지라도 수서생물의 체내에 축적되어 먹이사슬을 통해 인간에게도 악영향을 초래한다. 본 연구는 카드뮴이 참굴, *Crassostrea gigas*의 생리적 변화에 미치는 영향을 조사하기 위하여, 참굴을 카 드뮴 (0.01, 0.05, 0.1 ppm)에 노출시킨 후, heat shock protein 90 (HSP90), metallothionein (MT) 및 manganese- superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD) mRNA의 발 현과 헤모림프(hemolymph)내의 hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) 농도와 glutamate oxaloacetate trasaminase (GOT) 및 glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT) 분석을 실시하였다.

본 연구를 통하여, 참굴 아가미 조직으로부터 전장의 HSP90 cDNA (GenBank accession no. EF687776)와 Mn-SOD cDNA (EU420128)를 분리하였다. 참굴 HSP90 및 Mn-SOD cDNA는 현재 보고된 패류 종과 각각 84%, 62% 이상의 상 동성을 나타내었다. 또한 각 단백질의 특이적인 요소와 잘 보존된 영역을 포함

하고 있었다.

참굴 HSP90과 MT 및 Mn-SOD mRNA 발현은 카드뮴 처리 농도가 증가함에 따라 mRNA 발현량이 유의적으로 증가하였다. 이는 참굴 체내에서 카드뮴이 독성 스트레스로 작용하였고 이에 세포보호 및 항상성 유지를 위해 HSP90, MT 및 Mn-SOD mRNA의 발현이 유도되었다고 판단된다. 또한 본 실험에서 0.05 ppm과 0.1 ppm 농도에서는 HSP90과 Mn-SOD mRNA 발현이 7일째까지 발현의 증가하다가 이후 11일째 감소하는 경향을 나타내었다. 이는 카드뮴의 강한 독 성에 의해 생체 대사능력의 감소로, 지속적으로 축적된 카드뮴이 과도한 활성 산소종(reactive oxygen species, ROS)를 발생시켜, 이로 인한 강한 산화 스트레 스에 의해 생체대사능력이 감소하고 이에 따라 생체 방어를 위한 HSP90 및 Mn-SOD mRNA의 발현량도 감소하는 것으로 사료된다. MT mRNA 발현은 카 드뮴의 농도와 노출시간에 따라 발현량이 유의적으로 증가하였다. MT는 카드 뮴의 생체내 축적 정도를 나타내는 biomarker로, 중금속 농도에 비례하여 상대 적으로 증가하는 것으로 알려져 있다. MT mRNA의 발현변화는 노출시간과 농도에 비례하여 참굴 체내에 카드뮴이 축적되었음을 뒷받침 해준다.

참굴의 헤모림프 내의 Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) 농도의 변화 분석한 결과, 카 드뮴의 농도가 높을수록, 시간이 경과할수록 증가하는 경향을 나타냈다. 이는 체내 카드뮴의 축적에 의해 산화작용이 유도되었으며 이 과정에서 다량의 ROS 가 생성되었음 알 수 있다. 참굴 헤모림프 내의 효소성분인 GOT 및 GPT의 농 도는 0.1 ppm 7일째에 유의하게 증가하였다. 이는 카드뮴에 의한 조직손상에 의한 결과로 볼 수 있으며, GOT, GPT 활성이 7일째 유의한 증가는 HSP90과 Mn-SOD mRNA의 발현이 감소하는 시점과 일치하여, 과도한 스트레스에 의한 조직손상의 결과로 추측되어진다.

또한 참굴의 tributyltin (TBT) 노출 실험에서도, Mn-SOD 및 헤모림프 내의 H₂O₂농도와 GOT, GPT 활성이 카드뮴의 노출과 매우 유사한 결과를 나타내었 다. TBT는 주석을 포함하고 있는 유기화합물로 해양부착생물방지제 속에 포함 되는 강한 독성을 가진 환경오염물질로서 카드뮴과 같이 체내에 독성물질로 작

- v -

용하여, ROS 생성 및 mRNA 발현 유도에 유사한 메커니즘을 나타내는 것을 알 수 있었다.

결론적으로, 카드뮴의 노출에 의하여 체내에 ROS가 발생하여 산화스트레스 를 유도하였고, 이에 스트레스 및 독성 제거와 항상성 유지를 위해 HSP90, MT, Mn-SOD mRNA의 발현이 증가하였다. 또한 카드뮴에 과다하게 노출되면 생체 는 활성을 잃게 되어, 산화스트레스에 대한 방어능력의 감소로 조직의 손상을 가져오게 된다. 따라서, 본 연구의 결과는 HSP90, MT 및 Mn-SOD가 카드뮴 독 성으로부터의 세포보호와 항상성유지를 위하여 발현됨을 시사하며, mRNA발현 및 헤모림프 내의 H₂O₂농도와 GOT, GPT 활성은 참굴의 스트레스 정도를 판단 할 수 있는 생리적 지표로서의 가능성이 기대된다.



I. General Introduction

The oyster, often referred to as the "milk of the sea" is a favorite food item in countries renowned for the longevity of their citizens. Nutritionally, oyster is a good source of glycogen, taurine and essential amino acids, as well as vitamins and minerals. Species such as Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, Japanese oyster, *C. nippona* and flat oyster, *Ostrea denselamellosa*, are farmed extensively along the Korean coastline. Pacific oyster in particular is a species of significant industrial and economical scale, and very important to Korea both as a substantial protein supply for the nation and as an economical export. Currently, Pacific oyster agriculture is mainly being conducted in the waters near Tongyeong and Yeosu of the South Sea, which are designated as clean waters by the Food and Drug Administration of the United States.

However, recently, heavy metal contamination has become prominent along the southern coast of Korea where the farming of Pacific oyster takes place. The contamination is caused by aging farming facilities, aquatic wastes, sediments within the farmland and abandoned copper mines. Aquatic organisms, oysters are then exposed to these contaminants within the aquatic environment, and even very small amounts of harmful heavy metals such as lead, cadmium (Cd) and mercury (Hg) cause toxicity in living bodies. These toxins accumulate within the bodies of aquatic organisms and can cause adverse effects for humans through the food chain (Kobayashi, 1971; Rainbow and White, 1989). Particularly, Cd is a nonessential element and is potentially highly toxic to humans, animals and plants, even at low doses (Benavides et al., 2005). Cd is released into aquatic environments from industrial sources involved in, for example, mining, ore refining and plating processes, as well as from natural sources such as rocks and soils (Choi et al., 2007). It has physiologically adverse effects on the growth, reproduction and osmoregulation of fish (Kim et al., 2004). Itai-itai disease, which is Cd toxicosis caused by Cd in wastewater discharged from lead and zinc refineries in Japan 50 years ago, is a representative case that illustrates the harmfulness of Cd (Kobayashi, 1971). Cd accumulates within the bodies of organisms and alters and degrades processes of enzyme activation (Sastry and Subhadra, 1982). It also causes cell damage and can result in cell death (Benavides et al., 2005). In addition, Cd induces oxidization and thus generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) that promote oxidative stress (Stohs et al., 2000). Living organisms, however, possess physiological mechanisms to defend against toxicity and stress and to maintain homeostasis, including the expression of heat shock proteins (HSPs), which are representative stress-defense proteins, the metal-binding protein metallothionein (MT) and antioxidant defense systems to protect themselves from oxidative stress. HSP90, stress-defense proteins that are highly expressed in response to stress caused by changes in environmental factors such as temperature, heavy metal concentrations and active oxygen concentration, protect the structure and function of cells from stress and play an important role in maintaining cellular homeostasis. MT is a protein that has a high cysteine content, a low molecular weight of ~ 7 kDa, and a high affinity for metals. It binds with

metals and both regulates the homeostasis of essential trace metals such as copper and zinc and takes part in counteracting the toxic effects of heavy metals such as Cd, Hg and silver. And, antioxidant defense systems consist of enzymes (superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase and glutathione peroxidase) that play an important role in protecting cells and maintaining homeostasis by eliminating ROS (Rudneva, 1999). SOD is metalloenzyme and one of the representative defense elements against ROS, removes ROS by dismutating O_2^- into O_2 and H_2O_2 ($2O_2^- + H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$) (Fridovich, 1975).

In this paper, to determine the effects of Cd on organisms, time- and dose-related effects on mRNA levels of HSP90, MT and Manganese-SOD were investigated in the gill and digestive gland and, changes enzyme (glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT) and glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT)) levels and H_2O_2 concentration in the hemolymph of Pacific oyster *C. gigas*.

II. Experiment 1

Cadmium Affects the Expression of

Heat Shock Protein 90 and Metallothionein mRNA

in Pacific Oyster, Crassostrea gigas





Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





www.elsevier.com/locate/cbpc

Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C 147 (2008) 286-292

Cadmium affects the expression of heat shock protein 90 and metallothionein mRNA in the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*

Yong Ki Choi, Pil Gue Jo, Cheol Young Choi*

Division of Marine Environment & Bioscience, Korea Maritime University, Busan, 606-791, South Korea

Received 1 October 2007; received in revised form 19 November 2007; accepted 19 November 2007 Available online 23 November 2007

vallable online 23 November 200

Abstract

Cadmium (Cd) is a widespread nonessential heavy metal that enters the aquatic environment as a result of natural processes and human activities such as wastewater production, agriculture, and mining. To determine the effects of Cd on organisms, we investigated its time- and dose-related effects on mRNA levels of heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) and metallothionein (MT) in the gill and digestive gland and changes enzyme levels in the hemolymph of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. Full-length HSP90 cDNA was isolated from *C. gigas* by rapid amplification of cDNA end (RACE) techniques and found to contain 2154 nucleotides, including an open reading frame, and was predicted to encode a protein of 717 amino acids. BLAST analysis indicated that the HSP90 gene of *C. gigas* shared high homology with known HSP90 genes of other mollusks. The expression of HSP90 mRNA increased significantly with exposure to 0.01 ppm Cd for 11 days or 0.05 or 0.1 ppm Cd for 7 days. The expression of MT mRNA increased significantly with exposure to 0.01, 0.05, or 0.1 ppm Cd for 11 days. Glutamate oxaloacetate and glutamate pyruvate levels increased significantly with exposure to 0.01 ppm Cd for 7 days. These results indicate that HSP90 and MT play important roles in the physiological changes related to metabolism and cell protection that occur in Pacific oysters exposed to Cd. © 2007 Elsevier Loc. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Cadmium; Gene expression; Hemolymph; HSP90; MT; Pacific oyster

1. Introduction

The industrial development of recent times has resulted in the continuous discharge of various organic and inorganic materials, chemical substances, and heavy metals contained in domestic and industrial sewage into aquatic environments. Aquatic organisms are then exposed to these contaminants within the aquatic environment, and even very small amounts of harmful heavy metals such as lead, cadmium (Cd), and mercury cause toxicity in living bodies. These toxins accumulate within the bodies of aquatic organisms and can cause adverse effects for humans through the food chain (Kobayashi, 1971; Rainbow and White, 1989).

Cd is a nonessential element and is potentially highly toxic to humans, animals, and plants, even at low doses (Benavides et al., 2005). Cd is released into aquatic environments from industrial sources involved in, for example, mining, ore refining,

and plating processes, as well as from natural sources such as rocks and soils (Choi et al., 2007). It has physiologically adverse effects on the growth, reproduction, and osmoregulation of fish (Kim et al., 2004). Itai-itai disease, which is Cd toxicosis caused by Cd in wastewater discharged from lead and zinc refineries in Japan 50 years ago, is a representative case that illustrates the harmfulness of Cd (Kobayashi, 1971).

Cd accumulates within the bodies of organisms and alters and degrades processes of enzyme activation (Sastry and Subhadra, 1982). It also causes cell damage and can result in cell death (Benavides et al., 2005). In addition, Cd induces oxidization and hus generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) that promote oxidative stress (Stohs et al., 2000). Organisms, however, possess physiological mechanisms to defend against toxicity and stress and to maintain homeostasis, including the expression of heat shock proteins (HSPs), which are representative stress-defense proteins, and the metal-binding protein metallothionein (MT).

HSPs, stress-defense proteins that are highly expressed in response to stress caused by changes in environmental factors such as temperature, heavy metal concentrations, active oxygen

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +82 51 410 4756; fax: +82 51 404 3988. *E-mail address:* choic@hhu.ac.kr (C.Y. Choi).

^{1532-0456/\$ -} see front matter \otimes 2007 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cbpc.2007.11.002

concentration, and salinity (Beckmann et al., 1990), protect the structure and function of cells from stress and play an important role in maintaining cellular homeostasis (Sanders, 1993; Ackerman and Iwama, 2001). HSPs are divided into several groups based on their molecular mass and functional aspects: molecular mass $\leq 60, 70, 90, \text{ and } 110 \text{ kDa}$ (Gao et al., 2007). The abundant HSP90 of the 90-kDa HSP family comprises 1-2% of cellular proteins. It occurs in small quantities in normal cells that are not exposed to stress and binds to protein kinases, steroid receptors, actin, tubulin, and other substances in the cells to maintain proteins and deliver signals among cells (Pratt, 1997; Csermely et al., 1998). HSP90 is also induced by stressors such as changes in water temperature, salinity, active oxygen concentration, heavy metal concentrations, and organic and inorganic chemical substances (Choi et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2007). Studies of HSPs in relation to stress and immune responses to heavy metals have been conducted for variety of vertebrates and mollusks. In bivalves, HSP studies have been conducted on mussels Mytilus edulis, Mytilus galloprovincialis, Dreissena polymorpha, oysters, Crassostrea gigas, Crassostrea angulata, Ostea edulis, and abalone Haliotis rufescens (Gao et al., 2007). However, most HSP studies have focused on HSP70, and HSP90 has received less attention (Gao et al., 2007).

MT is a protein that has a high cysteine content, a low molecular weight of \sim 7 kDa, and a high affinity for metals. It binds with metals and both regulates the homeostasis of essential trace metals such as copper and zinc and takes part in counteracting the toxic effects of heavy metals such as Cd, mercury, and silver (Viarengo et al., 1999). Many recent studies have examined the use of MT as an index to evaluate heavy metal contamination in aquatic environments (Woo et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2007).

Among aquatic organisms, bivalve mollusks, including oysters, display little mobility compared to other species such as fish and crustaceans. Heavy metals are absorbed and accumulated in the tissue of bivalve mollusks as they filter large amounts of seawater through the gills and ingest the filtered organic substances (Philip, 1995; Engel, 1999). Heavy metal contamination is becoming prominent in areas of Korea and East Asia in which the farming of bivalve mollusks occurs due to the aging of farming facilities and the presence of aquatic wastes, sediments below the farming areas, and abandoned copper mines. Studies are necessary to identify the relationship between heavy metals and stress responses in bivalve species. Therefore, we analyzed changes in the properties of the enzymes glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (Aspartate aminotransferase - GOT) and glutamate pyruvate transaminase (Alanine aminotransferase -GPT) in the hemolymph, as well as changes in the patterns of HSP90 and MT mRNA expression, to identify the extent of stress caused by the exposure of the Pacific oyster, C. gigas to Cd.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Experimental oysters

We used 1-year-old Pacific oysters (*C. gigas*, average shell length: 112 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mass: 20.3 ± 10.7 mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; mm; shell height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; shell heig

3.9 g) obtained from the oyster hatchery on Daebu Island in Goseong (Gyeongnam, Korea). These were placed in 50-L circulating filter tanks in the laboratory at 50 oysters per tank. During the experimental period, the water temperature and salinity were maintained at 20 ± 1 °C and 35 psu, respectively, under a photoperiod of 12 h light/12 h dark and no feed was supplied.

2.2. CdCl₂ treatments and sampling

After acclimatization for 48 h in the tanks, 25 oysters were transferred to 25-L plastic aquaria filled with filtered natural seawater (control) or Cd-treated seawater. For Cd treatments, Cd was added to the water as $CdCl_2$ ·2. SH_2O (Kanto Chemical Co., Tokyo, Japan) to a dissolved Cd^{2+} concentration of 0.01, 0.05, or 0.1 ppm. Oysters were exposed to treatments for 11 days; the water was changed daily and resupplied with the corresponding concentration of Cd. No mortality was observed in either the Cd treatment or control group during the experimental period. Gill and digestive gland tissues were randomly sampled from three oysters after 0, 1, 3, 7, and 11 days of treatment and stored at -80 °C until the extraction of total RNA.

2.3. Hemolymph analysis

Hemolymph was withdrawn from the pericardial cavity using a 3-mL syringe. The samples were centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$, $4 \,^{\circ}$ C, for 5 min and the supernatant, after centrifugation stored at $-80 \,^{\circ}$ C until analysis. Activities of GOT and GPT were measured using a biochemistry autoanalyzer (model 7180; Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan).

2.4. Rapid amplification of complementary DNA 3' and 5' ends (3' and 5' RACE) of HSP90

For RACE reactions, total RNA was extracted using a Trizol kit (Gibco/BRL, Grand Island, NY, USA) from the gill of Pacific oysters. Reverse transcription was performed using M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Bioneer, Daejeon, Korea). Using 3 µg of total RNA as the template, 5'-RACE-ready cDNA and 3'-RACE-ready cDNA were generated using the protocols and reagents provided in the CapFishing Full-length cDNA Premix kit (Seegene, Seoul, Korea). Gene-specific primers were selected from Pacific oyster HSP90 partial cDNA (GenBank accession no. CB617443). For 3'-RACE, the 50 µL PCR reaction mixture contained 5 µL of 3'-RACE-ready cDNA, 1 µL of 10 µM 3' target primer (5'-CTG TGA ATG CTG CGA CTA CGA T-3'), 1 µL of 10 µM 3' RACE gene-specific primer (5'-TCC ACA ACA ACT CTG TCT GCA ACC AAG-3'), and 25 µL of SeeAmp Taq Plus Master Mix (Seegene). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was carried out for 40 cycles at 94 °C for 45 s for denaturation, 62 °C for 45 s for primer annealing, and 72 °C for 90 s for extension, followed by 5 min at 72 °C for extension. The PCR product was amplified, cloned into pGEM-T Easy Vector (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), and sequenced. For 5'-RACE, the 50 µL PCR reaction mixture contained 5'-

RACE-ready cDNA, 5' gene-specific primer (5'-CAG GCT GAG ATT GCT CAG TTG ATG AGC-3'), 5' target primer (5'-CTG TGA ATG CTG CGA CTA CGA T-3'), and SeeAmp Taq Plus Master Mix, as for 3'-RACE, under the same PCR con-

ditions. The PCR product was amplified, cloned into pGEM-T Easy Vector, and sequenced. The DNA and deduced amino acid sequences were analyzed using GENETYX-WIN (Software Development, Tokyo, Japan).

CaHSP90 1:MPEPE-H-MEEGEVETFAFQAEIAQLMSLIINTFYSNKEIFLRELISNASDALDKIRYES 58 1:MPEPEGQAMEDGEVETFAFQAGIAQLMSLIINTFYSNKEIFLRELISNCSDALDKIRYES 60 cfHSP90 haHSP90 1:MPEPQEAQMDEGEVETFAFQAEIAQLMSLIINTFYSNKEIFLRELISNSSDALDKIRYES 60 **** 59:LTDPSKLDSGKDLEIRIVPDKESKTLTIMDTGIGMTKADLVNNLGTIAKSGTKAFMEALQ 118 cqHSP90 cfHSP90 61:LTDPSKLDSGKELEIKIVPNKDDNTLSIMDTGIGMTKADLVNNLGTIARSGTKAFMEALQ 120 haHSP90 61:LTDPSKLDASKDLOIRIVPDKESKTLIIEDSGIGMTKADLVNNLGTIAKSGTKAFMEALO 120 cgHSP90 119:AGADISMIGQFGVGFYSAYLVADRVVVETKHNDDEQYIWESSAGGSFTVKTCSENTIGRG 178 cfHSP90 121:AGADISMIGOFGVGFYSAYLVADRVVVETKNNDDEHYIWESSAGGSFTVRS-GDGSFILG 179 cgHSP90 179:TKITLFLKEDQTEYLEERRIKEVVKKHSQFIGYPIKLLVEKERDKEVSDDEEEEEKKEED 238 cfHSP90 180:TRITLHMKEDQAEYLEEKKVKEIVKKHSQFIGYPIKLQVEKERDVEVSDDEEEEEKKEED 239 haHSP90 181:TRITLYMKEDQAEYLEERRIKEIVKKHSQFIGYPIKLMVEKERDKEVSDDEEDEKKEDEE 240 **** ***** ** ***** +++++++ CGHSP90 239:KAEEK-E-EDKPKVEDLDEDEEDDSKSKD-KKKKKIKEKYTEDEELNKTKPIWTRNPDDI 295 cfHSP90 240:KDAEKSE-DDKPKVEDLDDEDDDEDKSKD-KKKKKIKGKYIEDEELNKTKPIWTRNPDDI 297 haHSP90 241:KKEDEEENEDKPKVEDLD-EDEDEDKSKDKKKKKKIKEKYTEDEELNKTKPLWTRNADDI 299 ******* **** ****** ** ********* **** * * CGHSP90 296:TQEEYGEFYKSLTNDWE-----RPFGCEGQLEFRALLFIPRRAPLDLFENKKKKNNIKLY 350 cfHSP90 298:TQEEYGEFYKSLTNDWEDHLAVKHFSVEGQLEFRALLFVPRRAPFDLFENKKKKNNIKLY 357 haHSP90 300:TOEEYAEFYKSLTNDWEDHLAVKHFSVEGOLEFRALLFLPKRAPFDMFENKKKKNNIKLY 359 **** ******** ******* *** cgHSP90 351: VRRVFIMDNCEELIPEYLNFARGVVDSEDJPLNISREMLQQSKILKVIRKNLVKKCIELI 410 cfHSP90 358: VRRVFIMDNCNEVIPEYLNFVRGVVDSEDJPLNISREMLQQSKILKVIRKNLVKKCMELF 417 haHSP90 360: VRRVFIMDNCEDLIPEYLNFVRGVVDSEDJPLNISREMLQQSKILKVIRKNLVKKCMELF 419 ***** CGHSP90 411:EDLTEDKDNYKKFYEOFAKNLKLGIHEDSTNRKKLADFLRYYSSOSGDEMTSLKDYVSRM 470 cfHSP90 418:DDIAEDKENYKKFYEOFAKNLKLGIHEDTTNRKKIADFLRYHTSOSGDEMTSFKEYVSRM 477 haHSP90 420:EDLTEDKDNFKKFYEQFSKNLKLGIHEDSTNRKKLSELLRYYTSQSGDEMTSLKDYVSRM 479 *** * ****** ********* *** ******* CGHSP90 471 KENOKSTYYTTGESREVVOSSAFVERVKKRGMEVTYMVDPTDEVAVOOLKEYDGKPLVNV 530 cfhsp90 478:KENQKSIYYITGESREVVQSSAFVENVKKRGIEVIYMVDPIDEYAVQQLKEYEGKTLVSV 537 haHSP90 480:KENQKSIYYITGESRDSVQNSAFVERVKKRGFEVVYMTDPIDEYCVQQLKEYDGKTLVCV 539 ***** ** ***** ***** ** ** ****** ++ ++ cgHSP90 531:TKEGLELPEDEEERKRFEEAEAEYEGLCKVMKDILDKKVEKVVVSNRLVTSPCCIVTSQY 590 cfHSP90 538:TKEGLELPEDEEEKKRFEEATAEYEGLCKVVKEILDKKVEKVTVSNRLVTSPCCIVTSQY 597 haHSP90 540:TKEGLELPEDEEEKKKLEEAKAQFEGLCKVMKEILDKKVEKVVVSNRLVTSPCCIVTSQY 599 *********** *** * ***** * ******* *************** cgHSP90 591:GWSANMERIMKAQALRDSSTMGYMAAKKHLEINPDHSIIKSLKDKAEADKNDKSVKDLVM 650 cfHSP90 598:GWSANMERIMKAQALRDSSTMGCMAAKKHLEINPDHAIIKSLKEKAGLDKNDKSVKDLVL 657 haHSP90 600:GWSANMERIMKAOALRDTSTMGYMAAKKHLEINPDHPIVKTLKEKADADKNDKAVKDLCM 659 CGHSP90 651:LLFETSLLASGFSLEEPGTHASRIHRMIKLGLGIDEDE--TPETQEPVTEDMPPLEGDED 708 cfHSP90 658:LLFETSMLASGFSLEEPGTHANRIHRMIKLGLGIDDDDSGAPETSDENVEEPPPLEGDED 717 haHSP90 660:LLFETSLLASGFSLEDPTSHANRIHRMIKLGLGIDEDDIPAESATESGTDEMPPLEGDED 719 ***** ****** ** ********* cqHSP90 709:DASRMEEVE 717 cfHSP90 718:DASRMEEVI haHSP90 720:DASRMEEVE 728 *******

Fig. 1. Multiple alignment of the HSP90 gene of the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*, cgHSP90, GenBank accession no. EF687776), Zhikong scallop (*Chlamys farreri*, cfHSP90, AY362761), and abalone (*Haliotis asinina*, haHSP90, EF621884). Shaded regions indicate the five HSP90 family signature sequences and the consensus sequence MEEVD located at the C terminus. Identical amino acids are indicated by asterisks.

2.5. Quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR)

QPCR was conducted to determine the relative expression of HSP90 and MT mRNA. Total RNA was extracted from the gill and digestive gland of control and Cd-treated oysters. Reverse transcription were conducted using M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Bioneer), and cDNA was synthesized using 1 µg of the extracted total RNA according to the manufacturer's instructions. Primers for OPCR were designed with reference to known HSP90 (in this paper) and MT (AJ243263) gene sequences of the Pacific oyster as follows: HSP90 forward primer, 5'-GGT GAA TGT TAC CAA GGA AGG-3'; HSP90 reverse primer, 5'-GTT ACG ATA CAG CAA GGA GAT G-3'; MT forward primer, 5'-TTG GAG GAC AAG AGG AGA AAC ATC-3'; MT reverse primer, 5'-GGA CAC GAA TCA GAG CAG ACA C-3'; 28S ribosomal RNA (28Sr) forward primer, 5'-AAA CAC GGA CCA AGG AGT CT-3'; and 28Sr reverse primer, 5'-AGG CTG CCT TCA CTT TCA TT-3'.

PCR amplification was conducted using a Bio-Rad Mini-OpticonTM System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and iQTM SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad), according to the manufacturer's instructions. QPCR was carried by denaturation at 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 20 s and annealing at 55 °C for 20 s. All data were based on the calculated threshold cycle time (CT) levels. The values based on normalization of individual samples to 28S rRNA and then comparison to control group.



Fig. 2. Expression of HSP90 mRNA in response to cadmium treatment in the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) digestive gland (A) and gill (B). Oysters were treated with 0 (control), 0.01, 0.05, or 0.1 ppm Cd for 1, 3, 5, 7, or 11 days. The HSP90 mRNA expression levels relative to 28S rRNA levels were analyzed using real-time PCR. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) among Cd concentrations within sampling times. Values indicate the mean ± SD (n=4).



Fig. 3. Expression of MT mRNA in response to cadmium treatment in the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) digestive gland (A) and gill (B). Oysters were treated with 0 (control), 0.01, 0.05, or 0.1 ppm Cd for 1, 3, 5, 7, or 11 days. The MT mRNA expression levels relative to 28S rRNA levels were analyzed using real-time PCR. Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) among Cd concentrations within sampling times. Values indicate the mean \pm SD (n=4).

2.6. Statistical analysis

Treatment differences were tested using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the Tukey or least significant difference (LSD) test, using the SPSS statistical package (version 10.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) at a significance level of P < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Identification of HSP90 cDNA

A PCR-based cloning strategy (RT-PCR followed by 3' and 5' RACE) was used to clone cDNA encoding a putative HSP90 from the gill of C. gigas. HSP90 full-length cDNA contained 2154 nucleotides, including an open reading frame (ORF), and was predicted to encode a protein of 717 amino acids. The sequence contained the HSP90 protein family signature (NKEIFLRELISN[A/C/S]SDALDKIR, LGTIA[K/R]SGT, IGQFGVGFYSAYLVA[E/D], IKLYVRRVFL, GVVDSEDLPL NISRE) and had the consensus sequence MEEVD at the C terminus (Fig. 1). The cDNA sequence of the Pacific oyster HSP90 gene was deposited in NCBI/GenBank under accession number EF687776. The deduced amino acid sequence of the Pacific oyster HSP90 was compared to those deduced from known HSP90 cDNA of other mollusk species (Fig. 1). Pacific oyster HSP90 had an 85 and 84% amino acid sequence similarity with Zhikong scallop, Chlamys farreri (AY362761) and abalone, Haliotis asinina (EF621884), respectively (Fig. 1).

3.2. HSP90 mRNA expression levels

Cd treatment significantly increased HSP90 mRNA expression in the gill and digestive gland in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Fig. 2). The maximal response was observed at the highest dose of Cd tested (0.1 ppm). HSP90 mRNA expression increased with time and reached the highest level at day 11 with exposure to 0.01 ppm Cd, whereas it increased until day 7 and then decreased with exposure 0.05 or 0.1 ppm Cd. The HSP90 mRNA level was maximal on day 7 in the gill (17 times greater than the control; P < 0.05) and digestive gland (38 times greater than the control; P < 0.05) for the highest dose of Cd tested (0.1 ppm).

3.3. MT mRNA expression levels

Cd treatment significantly increased MT mRNA expression in the gill and digestive gland in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Fig. 3). The maximal response was observed at the highest dose of Cd tested (0.1 ppm). MT mRNA expression increased rapidly until day 11 for all treatment groups. The MT mRNA level was maximal in gill (139 times greater than the control; P<0.05) and digestive gland (128 times greater than the control; P<0.05) for the highest dose of Cd tested (0.1 ppm).

3.4. Hemolymph analysis

The levels of GOT and GPT in the hemolymph increased significantly by day 7 at Cd concentrations of 0.05 and 0.1 ppm (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Changes in the levels of the enzymes glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (Aspartate aminotransferase) (GOT) and glutamate pyruvate transaminase (Alanine aminotransferase) (GPT) in the hemolymph of the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) with cadmium treatment. Oysters were treated with 0 (control), 0.01, 0.05, or 0.1 ppm Cd for 1, 3, 5, 7, or 11 days. Asterisks indicate a significant difference from the control (P<0.05). Values indicate the mean±SD (n=4).

4. Discussion

Rapid industrial development has caused the release of diverse and complex forms of Cd into aquatic environments. Heavy metals that enter aquatic environments accumulate within the bodies of aquatic organisms, and even small quantities cause adverse effects to humans through the food chain. Therefore, we investigated the physiological changes that occur in Pacific oyster after exposure to Cd by analyzing the properties of hemolymph and the expression patterns of MT and HSP90 mRNA. We isolated the complete HSP90 cDNA (GenBank accession no. EF687776; 2154 bp) from the gill of Pacific oysters. The only other reported HSP90 sequences of bivalve species belong to Zhikong scallop, C. farreri (GenBank accession no. AY362761) and abalone, H. asinina (EF621884). The HSP90 of the Pacific oyster, C. gigas (cgHSP90) displayed high homology with those of the Zhikong scallop and abalone, at 85 and 84%, respectively. In addition, it contained five signal peptides that are well conserved in the HSP90 family: NKEIFLRELISN(A/C/S)SDALDKIR, LGTIA(K/R)SGT, IGOFGVGFYSAYLVA(E/D), IKLYVRRVFL and GVVDSE DLPLNISRE (Gupta, 1995; Gao et al., 2007). Furthermore, the consensus sequence MEEVD located at the 3' terminus (Gupta, 1995; Gao et al., 2007) was identified in cgHSP90 at amino acid residues 713-717. Scheufler et al. (2000) reported that the amino acid sequence EEVD located at the 3' terminus is the most well conserved area; moreover, it is the part that is involved in the binding of HSP70 and HSP90 and is regulated as a typical characteristic of HSP90. The cgHSP90 is similar to the HSP90 family in its general features and contains all of the recognized consensus sequences and/or signal peptides.

The level of cgHSP90 mRNA expression increased with increases in the dose and duration of exposure to Cd. This is consistent with previous findings in which HSP90 mRNA expression increased with dose and duration in scallops exposed to 0.05, 0.1, or 0.2 ppm Cd for 20 days (Gao et al., 2007) and with duration in carp exposed to 10 ppm Cd for 96 h (Hermesz et al., 2001). These results were produced because cadmium acted as toxic stress, and HSP90 expression is induced to main-tain homeostasis and protect the cells (Sanders, 1993; Ackerman and Iwama, 2001).

In contrast, only weak HSP90 mRNA expression was observed in the control group, which did not receive Cd exposure. Lai et al. (1984) reported that HSP90 is abundant at 1–2% of the cellular proteins within tissues in a normal unstressed state, HSP90 is deduced to have basic physiological roles, regardless of exposure to stress.

The level of HSP90 mRNA expression increased up to day 7 at doses of 0.05 and 0.1 ppm Cd and then decreased by day 11. This may have occurred due to two main reasons. First, the decrease might have occurred because of a decrease in the metabolic capacity of the organism caused by the strong toxicity of Cd. Zhang et al. (2004) reported that whereas defense mechanisms function under weak oxidative stress, organisms cannot achieve appropriate levels of metabolic function under strong oxidative stress. Its generated when Cd accumulates in the tissues beyond a certain threshold

concentration. Therefore, the metabolic capacity and HSP90 mRNA expression level would decrease accordingly. Second, HSP90 expression might decrease due to the accommodation of the toxin. Exposure to toxic substances results in the expression of a variety of enzymes and proteins such as cytochrome P450 (CYP450), flavin-containing monooxygenase (FMO), monoamine oxidase (MAO), glutathione-S transferase (GST), superoxide dismutase (SOD), and catalase (CAT), in addition to HSPs, for defense against toxicity (Boutet et al., 2004). Pacific oysters exposed to organic chemicals (i.e., polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons) had increased levels of HSP70 mRNA expression up to day 7 after which they decreased, and CYP450, FMO, GST, and SOD mRNA expression also increased with HSP70 mRNA expression (Boutet et al., 2004). Exposure to Cd resulted in similar dose- and time-dependent patterns of HSP70 mRNA expression (Moraga et al., 2005). These are similar to our results for HSP90 mRNA. Exposure to xenobiotics such as oil, pesticides, and organic substances similarly increased the expression of HSP70 and HSP90 mRNA (Bagchi et al., 1996; Snyder et al., 2001; Boutet et al., 2004). Thus, the mechanisms of HSP70 and HSP90 expression in response to toxins appear to be similar. We can deduce that HSP90 expression decreases because the effects of heavy metals have been accommodated and the cells are protected by the actions of enzymes and proteins. However, enzymes decreased after 7 days, which can be interpreted as a reduction in the metabolic capacity of the organism because of strong toxicity.

We did not perform the experiment for cDNA sequence of cgMT. cgMT were reported in GenBank accession no. AJ243263. The level of MT mRNA expression increased significantly in response to Cd exposure in a dose- and time-dependent manner. This indicates that Cd accumulated within the oysters in proportion to the time and dose of exposure. The degree of Cd accumulation in *C. gigas* can only be determined directly using MT mRNA expression. MT binds with metals for their removal from cells and protects cells from oxidative stress. MT mRNA expression increases in proportion to the heavy metal dose (Butler and Roesijadi, 2001; Choi et al., 2007). MT is being widely researched as a biomarker for the degree of Cd accumulation in living organisms (Unger and Roesijadi, 1993; Rebeblo et al., 2003).

Also, HSP90 and MT mRNA expression of digestive gland and gill displayed very similar tendency of expression, therefore no difference was observed in terms of expression tendency per organ.

The levels of GOT and GPT in the hemolymph of Pacific oysters increased significantly by day 7. In bivalve species such as the Pacific oyster, proteins, carbohydrates, salts, ions, and hemocytes in hemolymph flow from the pericardial cavity to the tissues to provide defense mechanisms in the form of phagocytosis and encapsulation by blood cells (Gagnaire et al., 2006). In *C. gigas*, changes in the constituents of the hemolymph occur in response to pathogenic agents, heavy metal contamination, and changes in various environmental factors (His et al., 1996; Xue and Tristan, 2000). Increases in GOT and GPT activities are generally used to diagnose tissue damage caused by environmental contaminants (Sakamoto and Yone, 1978; Casillas

et al., 1982). Although limited data are available on enzyme activation in bivalve species in relation to pollutants, we deduced that the increase in protein levels in the hemolymph of *C. gigas* exposed to Cd was caused by the inflow of cells affected by tissue damage (Oruc and Uner, 1998; Pickwell and Steinert, 1988). In several species of fish exposed to Cd, GOT and GPT activities increased with the increase Cd dose over time (Vaglio and Landriscina, 1999; de la Torre et al., 1999). Therefore, increases in GOT and GPT activities in the hemolymph of *C. gigas* can be regarded as resulting from tissue damage by Cd; the significant increase on day 7 likely occurred because tissue damage caused by Cd increased, and HSP00 and MT mRNA expression increased accordingly to protect the damaged cells.

HSP90 and MT mRNA expression increased in the gill and digestive gland of *C. gigas* exposed to Cd. This was because of an increase in stress and tissue damage caused by Cd. In other words, this result indicates that expression of mRNA expression and GOT and GPT activities in the hemolymph take place in order to maintain homeostasis and to protect cell from cadmium toxicity. Therefore, it might be possible to use HSP90 and MT as indices to determine the degree of Cd contamination in *C. gigas*. Additional studies of other heavy metals and oxidative stress are required to determine the mechanisms used to protect living tissues from heavy metal toxicity.

References

- Ackerman, P.A., Iwama, G.K., 2001. Physiological and cellular stress responses of juvenile rainbow trout to Vibriosis. J. Aquat. Anim. Health 13, 174–180.
- Bagchi, D., Bhattacharya, G., Stohs, S.J., 1996. In vitro and in vivo induction of heat shock (stress) protein (Hsp) gene expression by selected pesticides. Toxicology 112, 57-68.
- Beckmann, R.P., Mizzen, L.E., Welch, W.J., 1990. Interaction of HSP70 with newly synthesized proteins: implications for protein folding and assembly. Science 248, 850-854.
- Benavides, M.P., Gallego, S.M., Tomaro, M.L., 2005. Cadmium toxicity in plants. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 17, 21–34.
- Boutet, I., Tanguy, A., Moraga, D., 2004. Response of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* to hydrocarbone contamination under experimental conditions. Gene 329, 147–157.
- Butler, R.A., Roesijadi, G., 2001. Disruption of metallothionein expression with antisense oligonucleotides abolishes protection against cadmium cytotoxicity in molluscan hemocytes. Toxicol. Sci. 59, 101–107.
- Casillas, E., Sundquist, J., Ames, W.E., 1982. Optimization of assay conditions for, and the selected tissue distribution of, alamine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase of English sole, Parophrys vetulus Girard. J. Fish Biol. 21, 197–204.
- Choi, C.Y., Min, B.H., Kim, N.N., Cho, S.H., Chang, Y.J., 2006. Expression of HSP90, HSP70 mRNA and change of plasma cortisol and glucose during water temperature rising in freshwater adapted black porgy, *Acanthopagrus* schlegeli. J. Aquae. 19, 315–322.
- Choi, C.Y., An, K.W., Nelson, E.R., Habibi, H.R., 2007. Cadmium affects the expression of metallothionein (MT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) mRNA in goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 145, 595–600.
- Csermely, P., Schnaider, T., Soti, C., Prohaszka, Z., Nardai, G., 1998. The 90kDa molecular chaperone family: structure, function, and clinical applications. A comprehensive review. Pharmacol. Ther. 79, 129–168.
- de la Torre, F.R., Salibian, A., Ferrari, L., 1999. Enzyme activities as biomakers of freshwater pollution: responses of fish branchial (Na+K+)-ATPase and liver transaminases. Environ. Toxicol. 12, 313–319.
- Engel, D.W., 1999. Accumulation and cytosolic partitioning of metals in the American oyser Crassostrea virginica. Mar. Environ. Res. 47, 89–102.

- Gagnaire, B., Frouin, H., Moreau, K., Thomas-Guyon, H., Renault, T., 2006. Effect of temperature and salinity on haemocyte activities of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 10, 387–391.
- Gao, Q., Song, L., Ni, D., Wu, L., Zhang, H., Chang, Y., 2007. cDNA cloning and mRNA expression of heat shock protein 90 gene in the haemocytes of Zhikong scallop *Chlamys farreri*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B 147, 704–715.
- Gupta, R.S., 1995. Phylogenetic analysis of the 90 kD heat shock family of protein sequence and an examination of the relationship among animals, plants and fungi species. Mol. Biol. Evol. 12, 1063-1073.
- Hermesz, E., Abraham, M., Nemcsok, J., 2001. Identification of two hsp90 genes in carp. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 129, 397–407.
- His, R.B., Seaman, M.N., Pagano, G., Trieff, N.M., 1996. Sublethal and lethal toxicity of aluminum, industry effluents to early developmental stages of the *Crassostrea gigas* oyster. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30, 335–339.
- Kim, S.G., Jee, J.H., Kang, J.C., 2004. Cadmium accumulation and elimination in tissues of juvenile olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* after subchronic cadmium exposure. Environ. Pollut. 127, 117–123.
- Kobayashi, J., 1971. Relation between Itai-Itai disease and the pollution of river water by cadmium from mine. In: Jenkins, S.H. (Ed.), Advances in Water Pollution Research 1970, vol. 1. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp. 1–25.
- Lai, B.T., Chin, N.W., Stranek, A.E., Keh, W., Lanks, K.W., 1984. Quantitation and intracellular localization of the 85 k heat shock protein by using monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. Mol. Cell. Biol. 4, 2802–2810.
- Moraga, D., Meistertzheim, A., Tanguy-Royer, S., Boutet, I., Tanguy, A., Donval, A., 2005. Stress response in Cu2+ and Cd2+ exposed oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*): an immunohistochemical approach. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 141, 151–156.
- Oruc, E.O., Uner, N., 1998. Effects of azinphosmethyl on some biochemical parameters in blood, muscle, and liver tissues of *Cyprinus carpio*(L.). Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 62, 65–71.
- Philip, S.R., 1995. Biomonitoring of heavy metal availability in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 31, 183-192.
- Pickwell, G.V., Steinert, S.A., 1988. Accumulation and effect of organotin compounds in oysters and mussels: correlation with serum biochemical and cvtological factors and tissue burdens. Mar. Environ. Res. 24, 215–218.
- Pratt, W.B., 1997. The role of the hsp90-based chaperone system in signal transduction by nuclear receptors and receptors signaling via MAP kinase. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 37, 297–326.
- Rainbow, P.S., White, S.L., 1989. Comparative strategies of heavy metal accumulation of Zn, Cu and Cd by crabs and brancles. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 21, 669–686.

- Rebeblo, M.F., Pfeiffer, W.C., da Silva Jr., H., Moraes, M.O., 2003. Cloning and detection of metallothionein mRNA by RT-PCR in mangrove oysters (*Crassostrea rhizophorae*). Aquat. Toxicol. 64, 359–362.
- Sakamoto, S., Yone, Y., 1978. Effect of starvation on hematological characteristics, and activities of enzymes in blood serum of red sea bream. J. Fac. Agric., Kyushu Univ. 23, 63-69.
- Sastry, K.V., Subhadra, K., 1982. Effect of cadmium in some aspects of carbohydrate metabolism in a freshwater catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis*. Toxicol. Lett. 14, 81-114.
- Sanders, B.M., 1993. Stress protein in aquatic organisms: an environmental perspective. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 23, 49–75.
- Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., Hartl, F.U., Moarefi, I., 2000. Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70–Hsp90 multichaperone machine. Cell 101, 199–210.
- Snyder, M.J., Girvetz, E., Mulder, E.P., 2001. Induction of marine molluse stress proteins by chemical or physical stress. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 41, 22-29.
- Stohs, S.J., Bagchi, D., Hassoun, E., Bagchi, M., 2000. Oxidative mechanisms in the toxicity of chromium and cadmium ions. J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol. 19, 201–213.
- Unger, M.E., Roesijadi, G., 1993. Sensitive assay for molluscan metallothionein induction based on ribonuclease protection and molecular titration of metallothionein and actin mRNAs. Mol. Mar. Biol. Biotechnol. 2, 319–324.
- Vaglio, A., Landriscina, C., 1999. Changes in liver enzyme activity in the teleost Sparus aurata in response to cadmium intoxication. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 43, 111–116.
- Viarengo, A., Burlando, B., Cavaletto, M., Marchi, B., Ponzano, E., Blasco, J., 1999. Role of metallothionein against oxidative stress in the mussel *Mytilus* galloprovincialis. Am. J. Physiol. 277, 1612–1619.
- Woo, S., Yun, S., Jung, J.H., Shim, W.J., Lee, C.H., Lee, T.K., 2006. Heavy metal-induced differential gene expression of metallothionein in Javanese Medaka, *Oryzias javanicus*. Mar. Biotechnol. 8, 654–662.
- Xue, Q., Tristan, R., 2000. Enzymatic activities in European flat oyster, Ostrea edulis, and Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas, hemolymph. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 76, 155–163.
- Zhang, J.F., Wang, X.R., Guo, H.Y., Wu, J.C., Xue, Y.Q., 2004. Effects of watersoluble fractions of diesel oil on the antioxidant defenses of the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 58, 110–116.

III. Experiment 2

Characterization and mRNA Expression of Manganese-Superoxide Dismutase and Physiological Responses to Cadmium and Tributyltin in Pacific Oyster *Crassostrea gigas*

Abstract

Superoxide dismutases (SODs) are metalloenzymes that play an important role in mollusk immune defense systems by eliminating oxidative stress to reactive oxygen species. Physiological changes were investigated in Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* caused by exposure to pollutants (cadmium and tributyltin). mRNA expression of manganeses-SOD (Mn-SOD) were analyzed in gills using a quantitative polymerase chain reaction (QPCR), and measured the glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT), glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) levels in hemolymph based on time- and dose-related effects of pollutants and acute water temperature treatments. *C. gigas* Mn-SOD full-length cDNA (965 nucleotides) were cloned that included an open reading frame of 675 nucleotides that was predicted to encode proteins of 225 amino acids. BLAST analysis of other species indicated that residues essential to the enzymatic functions of Mn-SOD proteins are highly conserved. Levels of Mn-SOD mRNA expression, GOT and GOT gradually increased and then subsequently decreased during the exposure periods. These

results suggest that Mn-SOD plays an important role in the physiological changes related to metabolism and cell protection that occur in *C. gigas* when exposed to oxidative stress by pollutants.

Keywords: Cadmium, Hemolymph, Hydrogen peroxide, Mn-superoxide dismutase, TBT



1. Introduction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide radicals (O_2 ⁻), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), hydroxyl radicals (HO⁻) and singlet oxygen (¹O₂) are naturally generated in the course of respiratory metabolism of all organisms. Moreover, the generation of ROS in living organisms is promoted by external stimulants such as water temperature change, infection and toxic substances including cadmium (Cd), tributyltin (TBT) and hydrocarbon (Anderson et al., 1997; Chen et al., 2007; Murugavel et al., 2007). In addition, excessive production of ROS induces oxidative stress and can therefore cause lipid peroxidation, protein denaturation and DNA breakage. It also induces apoptosis by causing cellular damage and imbalance as well as denaturation or obstruction of various enzyme activities (Wang et al., 2004; Choi et al., 2007; Murugavel et al., 2007). Accordingly, a number of physiological defects have resulted in accelerated aging, reduced resistance against diseases, and lowered fertility (Kim and Phyllis, 1998).

Living organisms implement antioxidant defense systems to protect themselves from oxidative stress. These systems consist of enzymes (superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase and glutathione peroxidase) that play an important role in protecting cells and maintaining homeostasis by eliminating ROS (Rudneva, 1999). SOD, one of the representative defense elements against ROS, removes ROS by dismutating O_2^- into O_2 and H_2O_2

 $(2O_2^- + H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2)$ (Fridovich, 1975). Its structure and function has been reported in a variety of aerobic organisms including aquatic invertebrates (Fink and Scandalios, 2002). As a metalloenzyme, SOD is generally classified into copper/zinc-SOD (Cu/Zn-SOD), manganese-SOD (Mn-SOD) and iron-SOD (Fe-SOD) based on the metals bonded to enzyme active sites in cells (Mruk et al., 2002). Cu/Zn- and Mn-SOD differ from one another in terms of structures and evolutionary perspectives. While Cu/Zn-SOD is expressed in cytoplasm, Mn-SOD is mostly expressed in mitochondria (Fukuhara et al., 2002; Zelko et al., 2002). To date, full-length Mn-SOD cDNA has only been reported in giant scallop, Mizuhopecten vessoensis (GenBank accession no. AB222783) among the Bivalvia. Partial cDNA has also been reported in three species: marsh clam, Corbicula fluminea (EF446611), pearl mussel, Hyriopsis schlegelii (EU145730) and Manila clams, Venerupis philippinarum (EF520698). Boutet et al. (2004) reported the existence of Cu/Zn-SOD in Pacific oyster Crassostrea gigas (AJ496219) following hydrocarbon exposure. However, no study has reported on Mn-SOD.

Studies on SOD as an oxidative stress marker are being conducted in various species to investigate the health of marine organisms (Gonzalez et al., 2005; Monari et al., 2005) and to identify aquatic environmental pollution (Bebianno et al., 2004; Zelck et al., 2005). Pacific oyster *C. gigas*, the experimental target of this study, is a highly nutritious and profitable

food that is farmed in various countries. However, Pacific oyster farms have recently been suffering from marine environmental pollution caused by wastewater, aging of farming facilities, marine wastes and marine trafficking. Pollutants can exert stress to living organisms and can therefore negatively affect their health.

The purpose of this study was to examine physiological changes in *C.* gigas caused by exposure to Cd and TBT. To accomplish this, I cloned Mn-SOD cDNA isolated from the gill tissue of *C. gigas*. I also analyzed Mn-SOD mRNA expression levels and changes in H_2O_2 concentration as well as the production of SOD dismutation in the hemolymph. Changes in the level of glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT) and glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT) were also monitored.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Experimental oysters

One-year-old Pacific oysters (average shell length: 112 ± 10.7 mm; height: 31.1 ± 5.4 mm; weight: 20.3 ± 3.9 g) were obtained from the oyster hatchery on Daebu island in Goseong (Gyeongnam, Korea). These were placed in two 200 l circulating filter tanks in the laboratory at 200 oysters per tank. During the experimental period, the water temperature, salinity and dissolved oxygen were maintained at $20 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C, 35 ppt and 5.4 ± 0.2 mg/l, respectively, under a photoperiod of 12 h light/12 h dark, and no food was supplied.

2.2. Cd and TBT treatments



The oysters were acclimated for 48 h in 300 l circulating filter tanks. After acclimation, 30 oysters were transferred to 50 l plastic aquaria filled with 1 μ m filtered natural seawater (control; 40 l water) or Cd- and TBT-treated seawater (experimental groups; 40 l water). The whole quantity of water was exchanged daily during experimental period. For Cd treatments, Cd was added to the water as CdCl₂·2.5H₂O (Kanto Chemical Co., Tokyo, Japan) to a dissolved Cd²⁺ concentration of 0.01, 0.05 or 0.1 ppm. For TBT treatments, TBT was added to the water as TBTO (Tributyltin (IV) oxide) (Riedel-de Haen, Seelze, Germany) to a dissolved TBT concentration of 5,

10 or 20 ppb. Oysters were exposed to treatments for 11 days; the water was changed daily and resupplied with the corresponding concentration of treatments. Hemolymphs and tissues were sampled from randomly selected five oysters after 0, 1, 3, 7 and 11 days of treatments. Immediately after collection, all tissues were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until total RNA was extracted. Oyster's mortality was not observed in all experimental groups or control group during the experimental period.

2.3. Hemolymph GOT and GPT analysis

Hemolymph was withdrawn from the pericardial cavity using a 3 ml syringe. The samples were centrifuged at 10,000×g at 4°C for 5 min, and the supernatant was stored at -80°C until analysis. The activity of GOT and GPT was measured using Pureauto S AST (Daichi, Tokyo, Japan) and Pureauto S ALT (Daichi) kit by biochemistry autoanalyzer (model 7180; Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) assays

 H_2O_2 concentrations were measured using the modified methods of Nouroozzadeh et al. (1994) and a Peroxidetect kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). 20 µl of whole oyster hemolymphs in marine anticoagulant (MAC; 0.1 M glucose, 15 mM trisodium citrate, 13 mM citric acid, 50 mM EDTA, 0.45 M sodium chloride, pH 7.5) was added per well to flat bottom 96 well microtitre plates. Plates were left at room temperature for 20 min to allow hemocytes to settle and adhere. A working color reagent was prepared by mixing 100 ml distilled water containing 100 mM sorbitol and 125 μ M xylenol orange (Sigma-Aldrich) with 1 ml of 25 mM ferrous ammonium sulphate prepared in 2.5 M sulphuric acid (Sigma-Aldrich). 200 μ l of this reagent was then added to each well and allowed to incubate at room temperature for 1 h. Absorbance was read at 560 nm and concentrations of H₂O₂ were interpolated from a standard curve. Concentrations are expressed as nM/ml.

2.5. Identification of Mn-SOD cDNA

Mixed primers for Mn-SOD of *C* gigas Mn-SOD were designed using highly conserved regions of *M. yessoensis* (GenBank accession no. AB222783), disk abalone, *Haliotis discus discus* (DQ530210) and snail, *Biomphalaria glabrata* (AY500813) Mn-SOD mRNA: Mn-SOD forward primer (5'-AAG CAY ACW YTG CCA GAY CT-3') and Mn-SOD reverse primer (5'-TAD GCR TGY TCC CAS ACA TC-3'). Total RNA were extracted from various tissues (gill, digestive gland, intestine, mantle and adductor muscle) of the oyster using the Trizol method, according to the manufacturer's instruction (Gibco/BRL, Grand Island, NY, USA). 2.5 μ g of total RNA was reverse transcribed in a total volume of 20 μ L, using an oligo-d(T)₁₅ anchor and M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Bioneer, Seoul, Korea) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification was performed using a 2X Taq Premix I (Solgent, Daejeon, Korea), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The amplified PCR product was processed by electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels. The PCR product was purified and ligated into the pGEM-T Easy Vector (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). The colony formed by transformation was cultivated in DH5a, and plasmid DNA was extracted using a LaboPass Plasmid DNA Purification Kit (Cosmo, Seoul, Korea) and EcoRI (Fermentas, Hanover, MD, USA). Based on the plasmid DNA, Mn-SOD partial cDNA sequence data were analyzed using an ABI DNA Sequencer (Appleid Biosystems, Foster city, CA, USA).



2.6. Rapid amplification of complementary DNA of Mn-SOD

For RACE reactions, total RNA was extracted from the gills of *C. gigas*. Using 3 μ g of total RNA as template, 3'-RACE-ready cDNA and 5'-RACE-ready cDNA were generated using the protocols and reagents provided in the CapFishing Full-length cDNA Premix kit (Seegene, Seoul, Korea). Gene-specific primers were selected from the Mn-SOD partial cDNA of *C. gigas* obtained by PCR. For 3'-RACE, the 50 μ l PCR reaction mixture contained 5 μ l of 3'-RACE-ready cDNA, 1 μ l of 10 μ M 3' target primer (5'-CTG TGA ATG CTG CGA CTA CGA T-3'), 1 μ l of 10 μ M 3' RACE Mn-SOD primer (5'-ACA AGG CAG CCC ACT CTT TGA GGG

TTG-3') and 25 µl of SeeAmp Tag Plus Master Mix (Seegene). PCR was carried out for 40 cycles at 94°C for 45 s for denaturation, 62°C for 45 s for primer annealing, and 72°C for 90 s for extension; followed by 5 min at 72°C for extension. For 5'-RACE, the 50 µl PCR reaction mixture contained 5'-RACE-ready cDNA, 5' RACE Mn-SOD primer (5'-CTG AGG GTC TCC CAG AAT ATG CTG TGG-3'), 5' target primer (5'-GTC TAC CAG GCA TTC GCT TCA T-3'), and SeeAmp Tag Plus Master Mix at the volumes for 3⁻RACE under the PCR as same conditions. same Transformation and sequencing were conducted using the same methods described above. The DNA and deduced amino acid sequences were analyzed using GENETYX-WIN (Software Development, Tokyo, Japan) and the BLAST algorithm at the NCBI website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ blast).

2.7. Phylogenetic analysis of Mn-SOD

Phylogenetic analysis was performed on the amino acid sequences from full-length Mn-SOD cDNA from various vertebrates and mollusks. Amino acid sequence data were aligned using the BioEdit Software (Hall, 1999). The sequences compared to the *C. gigas* Mn-SOD (GenBank accession no. EU420128) were as follows: Mn-SOD of *M. yessoensis* (AB222783), *H. discus discus* (DQ530210), *B. glabrata* (AY500813), zebrafish, *Danio rerio* (NM_199976), frog, *Xenopus laevis* (NM_001090499), cow, *Bos taurus* (BT020988) and human *Homo sapiens* (M36693). A phylogenetic tree was constructed using the neighbor-joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987) and analyzed using Mega 3.1 software package (Center for Evolutionary Functional Genomics, Tempe, AZ, USA). The degree of support for internal branches was inferred using bootstrapping (1,000 replicates) analysis.

2.8. Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

RT-PCR was conducted to determine the relative expression of C. gigas Mn-SOD in various ovster tissues. Total RNA were extracted from the gill, digestive gland, intestine, mantle and adductor muscle of experimental (Cd, TBT and acute water temperature treatments) oysters. The extraction of total RNA and synthesis of cDNA were conducted as mentioned above. Primers for RT-PCR were designed with reference to C. gigas Mn-SOD cDNA (GenBank accession no. EU420128) by PCR and C. gigas β -Actin (AF026063) gene sequences of Pacific oyster as follows: Mn-SOD forward primer, 5'-AAG CAC ACC TTA CCA GAT CT-3'; Mn-SOD reverse primer, 5'-ATA GCG TGC TCC CAG ACA TC-3'; β-Actin forward primer, 5'-GAC TTC GAA CAA GAG ATG-3'; and β -Actin reverse primer, 5'-GAT ATC GAC ATC ACA TTT C-3'. PCR amplification was performed using a 2X Taq Premix I (Solgent, Daejeon, Korea), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The β -Actin was amplified in each PCR reaction loading control. The PCR products from different cycles of as а

amplification were visualized on a UV-transilluminator after electrophoresis on 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide (0.5 μ g/ μ l). The signal intensity was quantified using the Gel-Doc System and Gelpro 3.1 software (KBT, Incheon, Korea). The cycle numbers that generate half-maximal amplification were used for subsequent quantitative analysis of gene expression, and they are 35 cycles for Mn-SOD and 25 cycles for β -Actin.

2.9. Quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR)

QPCR was conducted to determine the relative mRNA expression of Mn-SOD. Total RNA were extracted from the gill of experimental (Cd and TBT treatments) oysters. The extraction of total RNA and synthesis of cDNA were conducted as mentioned above. Primers for QPCR were designed with reference to known Mn-SOD (GenBank accession no. EU420128) and β -Actin (AF026063) gene sequences of the *C. gigas* as follows: Mn-SOD forward primer, 5'-GAC CTG CCC TAT GAC TAC AAT GC-3'; Mn-SOD reverse primer, 5'-TCT GGT GAT GTT TGC TGT GAT GG-3'; β -Actin forward primer, 5'-TGG ATC GGT GGT TCC ATC CTT-3'; and β -Actin reverse primer, 5'-GGT CCA GAT TCG TCG TAC TCC-3'. QPCR amplification was conducted using a Bio-Rad MiniOpticonTM System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and iQTM SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad), according to the manufacturers' instructions. QPCR was undertaken by denaturation at 95°C for 5 min; followed by 40 cycles of

denaturation at 95°C for 20 s and annealing at 55°C for 20 s. To ensure that the primers amplified a specific product, A melt curve (data not shown) were performed, as well as analyzed the PCR product size using capillary electrophoresis (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). All primers used were shown to amplify only one size of template, melting at only one temperature. PCR products were also confirmed by sequencing (data not shown). QPCR was conducted to determine the expression of Mn-SOD mRNA relative to β -actin mRNA using total RNA extracted from the gills of the control and experimental ovsters (n = 5). Each experimental group was run in triplicate to ensure consistency. As an internal control, experiments were duplicated with β -actin, and all data were expressed as the change with respect to the corresponding β -actin Ct levels. All analyses were based on the Ct values of the PCR products. The Ct was defined as the PCR cycle at which the fluorescence signal crossed a threshold line that was placed in the exponential phase of the amplification curve. After the PCR program, QPCR data from three replicate samples were analyzed with analysis software of the system (Bio-Rad) to estimate transcript copy numbers for each sample. The efficiencies of the reactions were determined by performing the QPCR. The efficiencies were found to be as follows: β -actin=97.3%, Mn-SOD=95.2%. Also, to ensure that the primers amplified a specific product, a melt curve were performed melting at only one temperature. The mRNA expression levels stood for an n-fold difference relative to β -actin as the internal control.

2.10. Statistical analysis

Treatment differences were tested using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the Tukey or least significant difference (LSD) test, using the SPSS statistical package (version 10.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) at a significance level of P < 0.05.



3. Results

3.1. Identification of Mn-SOD cDNA

RT-PCR was used to generate a 496-base pair fragment of Mn-SOD using total RNA extracted from *C. gigas*. A PCR-based cloning strategy (RT-PCR followed by 3' and 5' RACE) was used to clone a full-length cDNA encoding a putative Mn-SOD from the gill tissue of *C. gigas*. Mn-SOD full-length cDNA contained 965 nucleotides including an open reading frame of 675 nucleotides that was predicted to encode a protein of 225 amino acids. The cDNA sequence of *C. gigas* Mn-SOD gene was deposited in NCBI/GenBank under accession number EU420128.

The predicted amino acid sequence of Mn-SOD was compared to those deduced from known Mn-SOD cDNAs of other vertebrates and mollusks (Fig. 5). The Mn-SOD cDNA had high amino acid sequence identity with other mollusks: 63% identity to *H. discus discus* Mn-SOD (GenBank accession no. DQ530210) and 62% identity to *M. yessoensis* (AB222783) and *B. glabrata* (AY500813) Mn-SODs. *C. gigas* Mn-SOD was also similar to Mn-SODs from vertebrates: 60% identity to *X. laevis* (NM_001090499), *B. taurus* (BT020988) and *H. sapiens* (M36693) Mn-SODs, and 58% to *D. rerio* Mn-SOD (NM_199976). The Mn-SODs showed four conserved manganese-binding sites responsible for coordinating the metal (His⁵³, His¹⁰¹, Asp¹⁸⁷ and His¹⁹¹) and characteristic signatures (DVWEHAYY; residues

187-194) among all species (Fig. 5).

A phylogenetic tree was constructed to further analyze the evolutionary relationship of Mn-SOD sequences among various vertebrates and mollusks. Phylogenetic analysis indicated that *C. gigas* Mn-SOD clustered closely with the Mn-SOD of *H. discus discus* (Fig. 6).

3.2. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) concentrations

Hemolymph H₂O₂ concentrations significantly increased following Cd and TBT treatments in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Fig. 7). H₂O₂ concentrations increased with time and reached the highest level after 11 days with exposure to 0.01 (4.0 \pm 0.3 nM/ml), 0.05 (6.0 \pm 0.6 nM/ml), and 0.1 ppm Cd (10.5 \pm 0.8 nM/ml) from an initial level of 2.4 \pm 0.3 nM/ml. The maximal response of H₂O₂ concentrations was observed at the highest dose of Cd tested (0.1 ppm) (Fig. 7A). In TBT treatments, H₂O₂ concentrations increased significantly after 11 days with exposure to 5 (3.9 \pm 0.3 nM/ml), 10 (5.2 \pm 0.2 nM/ml) and 20 ppb TBT (8.5 \pm 0.5 nM/ml) from an initial concentration of 2.4 \pm 0.3 nM/ml (Fig. 7B).

С.	gigas	1:MLLSKVSVAKCALTKSISALGAMGMRMKHTLPDLPYDYNALEPYISADIMKL H HSKHHQT	60
М.	yessoensis	1:ML-SATATVIKSVPKHVGALGTLASRLKHTLPDLPYDFNALEPAISAEIMQI H YTKHHAT	59
Η.	D. discus	1:ML-SATLSAVKRAVPSPAWLATAAVRMKHTLPDLPYDYNALEPYISADIMKLHHKKHHNA	59
В.	glabrata	1:M-SKMLSTTSSSLKRCF-GV-SL-LRLKHTLPDLKYDFNALEPYISADIMKLHYQKHHQA	56
D.	rerio	1:ML-CRVGYVRRCAATFNPLLGAVTSRQKHALPDLTYDYGALEPHICAEIMQLHHSKHHAT	59
Χ.	laevis	1:ML-CRLSVCGRGRMRCVPALAYSFCKEKHTLPDLPYDYGALQPHISAEIMQLHHSKHHAT	59
В.	taurus	1:ML-SRAACSTSRRLAPALSVLGSRQKHSLPDLPYDYGALEPHINAQIMQLHHSKHHAA	57
Η.	sapiens	1:ML-SRAVCGTSRQLAPALGYLGSRQKHSLPDLPYDYGALEPHINAQIMQLHHSKHHAA	57
С.	gigas	61:YVNNLNVAEEKLAEAMEKKDVNKIIQLQAAIRFNGGGHLNHSIFWETLSPQGGGEPQDGA	120
М.	yessoensis	60: YVNNLNIAEEKLAEAMETNNVNQVIQLQPALKFNGGGHIN H SIFWQVLSPNGGGQP-SGD	118
H.	D. discus	60:YVTNLNVAQEKLSEAEAKNDINSIISLQPSLRFNGGGHIN H SIFWEVLSPNGGGEP-DGD	118
В.	glabrata	57:YVNNLNVAEEKLKAAVDKGDVNTIISLQPALKFNGGGHINHTIFWSNLSPKGGGEP-TGD	115
D.	rerio	60: YVNNLNVTEEKYQEALAKGDVTTQVSLQPALKFNGGGHIN H TIFWTNLSPNGGGEP-QGE	118
Χ.	laevis	60:YVNNLNITEEKYAEALAKGDVTTQVSLQAALKFNGGGHIN H TIFWTNLSPNGGGEP-QGE	118
В.	taurus	58:YVNNLNVAEEKYREALEKGDVTAQIALQPALKFNGGGHIN H SIFWTNLSPNGGGEP-QGE	116
Η.	sapiens	58:YVNNLNVTEEKYQEALAKGDVTAQTALQPALKFNGGGHINHSIFWTNLSENGGGEP-KGE	116
С.	gigas	121:LKDLILEEFVTFDALKKALTEASVGVQGSGWSWLGYDKAAHSLRVVTCANQDPLLATTGL	180
М.	yessoensis	119:LMEVIKRDFGSFEAMKTELSNASVAVQGSGWGWLGFNPVSKRLRVATCANQDPLQPTTGL	178
Η.	D. discus	119:LMHCIKRDFGSYDEMKKELTASAVTVQGSGWAWLGFNPVSGRLRVSACANQDPLEATTGL	178
Β.	glabrata	116:LLQLIKEEFSTFENMKKLLAEKSVAIQGSGWGWLGFNPATGKVQVATCSNQDPLEATTGL	175
D.	rerio	119:LLEAIKRDFGSFQKMKEKISAATVAVQGSGWGWLGFEKESGRLRIAACANQDPLQGTTGL	178
Χ.	laevis	119:LLDAIKRDFGSFEKFKEKLNTVSVGVQGSGWGWLGYNKDSNRLQLAACANQDPLQGTTGL	178
в.	taurus	117:LLEAIKRDFGSFAKFKEKLTAVSVGVQGSGWGWLGFNKEQGRLQIAACSNQDPLQGTTGL	176
н.	sapiens	11/:LLEAIKRDFGSFDKFKERLTAASVGVQGSGWGWLGFNKERGHLQIAAOPNQDPLQGTTGL	1/6
с.	qiqas	181:YPLFGI DVWEHAYY LOYKNVRPDYVNAIWHIIDWKSVTERF-KAAL	225
М.	vessoensis	179: VPLFGI DVWEHAYY LOYKNVRPDYLKAIWNIVNWDKVAONLHNATMAC	226
Η.	D discus	179: VPLFGI DVWEHAYY LOYKNVRPDYVGAIFNVANWENVAORLSEAKLAA	226
в.	glabrata	176: IPLFGI DVWEHAYY LQYKNVRADYVNAIFNIANWQDVSDRLAKARLRS	223
D.	rerio	179: IPLLGI DVWEHAYY LOYKNVRPDYVKAIWNVVNWENVSERFOAAKK	224
х.	laevis	179: IPLLGI DVWEHAYY LQYKNVRPDYLKAIWNVINWENVTERYQASKK	224
в.	taurus	177: IPLLGI DVWEHAYY LQYKNVRPDYLKAIWNVINWENVTARYTACSK	222
Η.	sapiens	177: IPLLGI dvwehayy lqyknvrpdylkaiwnvinwenvterymackk	222

Fig. 5. Multiple alignment of the Mn-SOD gene of Crassostrea gigas (GenBank accession no. EU420128), Mizuhopecten yessoensis (AB222783), Haliotis discus discus (DQ530210), Biomphalaria glabrata (AY500813), Danio rerio (NM_199976), Xenopus laevis (NM_001090499), Bos taurus (BT020988) and Homo sapiens (M36693). The Mn-SOD signature sequence (DVWEHAYY) is bold and underlined. Four conserved amino acids responsible for manganese binding are bold and boxed. Identical amino acids among the different species are indicated by shaded regions.



Fig. 6. Phylogenetic tree based on amino acid alignments for Mn-SOD in vertebrates and mollusks. Bootstrap values (%) are indicated (1,000 replicates). The score between two protein sequences, which is a measure of the relative phylogenetic relationship, is represented by the horizontal distance (i.e., a shorter distance indicates a higher degree of relatedness). The Mn-SOD sequences are *Crassostrea gigas* (GenBank accession no. EU420128), *Mizuhopecten yessoensis* (AB222783), *Haliotis discus discus* (DQ530210), *Biomphalaria glabrata* (AY500813), *Danio rerio* (NM_199976), *Xenopus laevis* (NM_001090499), *Bos taurus* (BT020988) and *Homo sapiens* (M36693). The scale bar indicates the evolutionary distance between groups.

MANTIME



Fig. 7. H_2O_2 concentrations in the hemolymph of *Crassostrea gigas* by (A) Cd treatments (0 [control], 0.01, 0.05 or 0.1 ppm Cd for 1, 3, 7 or 11 days), (B) TBT treatments (0 [control], 5, 10 or 20 ppb TBT for 1, 3, 7 or 11 days). Lowercase letters indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among sampling times. Values indicate the mean±SD (n = 5).

3.3. Tissue distribution of Mn-SOD

The expression of Mn-SOD mRNA in various tissues from experimental (Cd and TBT treatments) oysters measured by RT-PCR (Fig. 8). The Mn-SOD mRNA was detected in all tissues tested and was highly expressed in gill. In contrast, digestive gland, intestine, mantle and adductor muscle had low expression.

3.4. mRNA expression levels of Mn-SOD to CdCl₂ treatments

Cd treatments significantly increased Mn-SOD mRNA expression in gill tissue in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Fig. 9A). The maximal response was observed at the highest dose of 0.1 ppm Cd tested. Mn-SOD mRNA expression increased over time, reaching the highest level after 11 days with exposure to 0.01 and 0.05 ppm. At 0.1 ppm, levels significantly increased for 7 days and then subsequently decreased. The Mn-SOD mRNA level was highest on 7 days (100 times greater than the control, P<0.05) at 0.1 ppm.

3.5. mRNA expression levels of Mn-SOD to TBT treatments

TBT treatments significantly increased Mn-SOD mRNA expression in gill tissue in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Fig. 9B). No significant effect of TBT was observed at 5 ppb. The maximum response was observed at the highest dose tested (20 ppb). Mn-SOD mRNA expression increased over time and reached the highest level after 11 days with exposure to 10 ppb.

At 20 ppb, it significantly increased for 7 days and then decreased afterwards. The Mn-SOD mRNA level was highest on 7 days (51 times greater than the control, P < 0.05) at 20 ppb.

3.6. Hemolymph analysis

Levels of GOT and GPT in the hemolymph are shown in Fig. 4 and Fig. 10. In Cd treatments, GOT and GPT levels increased significantly by 7 days at concentrations of 0.05 (GOT: 3.7 ± 1.5 IU/l; GPT: 6.3 ± 3.1 IU/l) and 0.1 ppm (GOT: 4.3 ± 1.4 IU/l; GPT: 8.0 ± 3.0 IU/l) (Fig. 4). In TBT treatments, GOT levels increased significantly by 3 (11.3 ± 3.5 IU/l) and 7 days (17.3 ± 4.8 IU/l), and GPT levels increased significantly by 7 days (18.0 ± 5.0 IU/l) at 20 ppb (Fig. 10).



Fig. 8. Tissue-specific expression of Mn-SOD mRNA in various tissues (gill, G; digestive gland, D; intestine, I; mantle, M; adductor muscle, A) from Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* by Cd treatments, TBT treatments. Amplification of β-Actin was used as an internal control.



Fig. 9. Response of Mn-SOD mRNA expression in *Crassostrea gigas* by (A) Cd treatments, (B) TBT treatments. *C. gigas* Mn-SOD mRNA expression levels relative to β -Actin levels were analyzed using real-time PCR. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences (*P*<0.05) among sampling times. Values indicate the mean±SD (*n* = 5).



Fig. 10. Changes in the levels of the enzymes glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT) and glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT) in the hemolymph of Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* with TBT treatments. Oysters were treated with 0 (control), 5, 10 or 20 ppm TBT for 1, 3, 5, 7 or 11 days. Asterisks indicate a significant difference from the control (P<0.05). Values indicate the mean±SD (n = 5).

4. Discussion

To date, full-length Mn-SOD cDNA has been reported in only three species of mollusk: M. vessoensis (GenBank accession no. AB222783), H. discus discus (DO530210) and B. glabrata (AY500813). In our study, Mn-SOD mRNA expression were analyzed H₂O₂ concentrations, GOT and GPT levels of Pacific ovster C. gigas in order to investigate the effect of Cd and TBT exposure on the physiological responses of this organism. Using the BLAST algorithm of the NCBI, C. gigas Mn-SOD isolated in this study displayed homology of 62% or higher with that of invertebrates. It also showed a homology of 58% or higher with Mn-SOD of vertebrates (Fig. 5). Through multiple alignment analysis, Several characteristic elements among all species including C. gigas Mn-SOD. The were observed Mn-SOD signature sequence (DVWEHAYY; residues 187-194) and four (His⁵³, His¹⁰¹, Asp¹⁸⁷ and His¹⁹¹) conserved manganese-binding sites responsible for coordinating the metal were confirmed (Jackson and Cooper, 1998) (Fig. 5). High homology and conserved sites among species support the presumption that C. gigas Mn-SOD belongs to the Mn-SOD family and that it performs the functions and roles of Mn-SOD. C. gigas Mn-SOD was also phylogenetically closest to the H. discus discus Mn-SOD (Fig. 6). Following our analysis using BioEdit software, the mollusks (C. gigas, H. discus discus, M. yessoensis and B. glabrata) and vertebrates (D. rerio, X.

laevis, B. taurus and *H. sapiens*) were confirmed as two separate groups of Mn-SOD and Mn-SOD of *C. gigas* was genetically the closest to that of *H. discus discus*.

The expression of Mn-SOD mRNA were compared in various tissues of experimental (Cd and TBT treatments) oysters using RT-PCR (Fig. 8). Mn-SOD mRNA expression was observed in all tissues. In particular, high levels of expression were observed in gill tissues. The gill tissue of Pacific ovsters has an ample contact area with the surrounding environment. As the direct primary absorption route of environmental substances, the gills are largely influenced by external environments. Furthermore, they take in necessary food and oxygen, and discharge unnecessary residues through inflow/outflow of seawater (Legeav et al., 2005). Kim et al. (2007) reported high Mn-SOD mRNA expression levels in the gill tissues of abalone H. discus discus when treated with heavy metals. Therefore, gill tissue of C. gigas were used to compare Mn-SOD mRNA expression levels after exposure to Cd and TBT. Mn-SOD mRNA expression in gill tissue by exposure to Cd and TBT significantly increased with exposure time and concentration. Cd is a toxic heavy metal that exerts a high level of toxicity to living organisms even at low doses (Benavides et al., 2005). TBT, an organic compound containing tin, is an environmental pollutant of high toxicity that is contained in anti-marine biological adhesion agents (Lee and Lee, 2003). Excessive Cd and TBT exposure induces various oxidative reactions and, in the process, can generate a large quantity of ROS that promote oxidative stress (Stohs et al. 2000). Mn-SOD mRNA was expressed in order to eliminate oxidative stress caused by ROS. Funes et al. (2005) reported that SOD activity was higher in the oyster *Crassostrea angulata* and the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* from regions of high heavy metal concentration than that of oysters and mussels from other areas. Our results confirm SOD mRNA expression induced in Pacific oysters due to oxidative stress by exposure to organic compounds (hydrocarbons) such as TBT, as reported by Boutet et al. (2004).

Interestingly, Mn-SOD mRNA expression significantly increased jointly with H_2O_2 concentrations until 7 days of exposure to 0.1 ppm Cd and 20 ppb TBT. However, while H_2O_2 concentration continued to increase, Mn-SOD mRNA expression decreased after 7 days of exposure. This indicated that extreme oxidative stress was induced on 7 days of exposure to pollutants. A decrease in Mn-SOD mRNA expression as the time of exposure elapsed is presumed to be the result of a lowered metabolic capacity due to the excessive generation of ROS that surpasses the controllable range of the antioxidant system. Zhang et al. (2004) reported that the metabolic function of a defense mechanism in an organism may be lost when placed in an environment of weak oxidative stress and subsequently exposed to strong oxidative stress. This supports the data obtained in our study.

- 37 -

ROS induce oxidative stress that can exert detrimental effects on organisms such as membrane damage, DNA breakage, lipid peroxidation, enzyme inhibition, amino acid oxidation and apoptosis (Wang et al., 2004; Choi et al., 2007; Murugavel et al., 2007). Excessive Cd and TBT accumulation induces various oxidative reactions and, in the process, can generate a large quantity of ROS that promote oxidative stress (Stohs et al., 2000). In our study, ROS were generated due to toxicity of pollutants (i.e., Cd and TBT) by measuring the level of H_2O_2 production.

 H_2O_2 concentrations in *C. gigas* displayed a tendency to increase as the concentration of pollutants increased and as time elapsed (Fig. 7). This result suggests that ROS generation was induced by Cd and TBT exposure. A decrease in enzymatic and non-enzymatic free radical scavengers caused by pollutants may contribute to the shift in the balance of free-radical metabolism toward H_2O_2 accumulation (Cho and Seo, 2005). SOD dismutates a superoxide radical (O_2) into O_2 and H_2O_2 ($2O_2^- + H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$) and, thus, releases ROS. Therefore, ROS were generated due to toxicity of pollutants, and identified the degree of oxidative stress in *C. gigas* and its possible correlation with SOD by measuring the level of H_2O_2 production.

The defense mechanism in mollusks, such as Pacific oysters, is triggered from the outside as blood cells in hemolymph, as well as proteins, carbohydrates, salt and ions, are passed from the heart sac into tissues and are discharged (Gagnaire et al., 2006). Changes in constituting properties of hemolymph can occur due to various pollutants and environmental factors (His et al., 1996; Xue and Tristan, 2000). Among the constituting properties of hemolymph, an increase in GOT and GPT activation is generally caused by inflow to the hemolymph of cells separated due to tissue damage by environmental contaminants (Casillas et al., 1982). As GOT and GPT activities were measured, significant increases of GOT and GPT were observed on the seventh day of exposure to 0.05 and 0.1 ppm Cd and 7 days of exposure to 20 ppb TBT. This result was similar to the report by Cho et al. (2001) and Choi et al. (2008) that showed GOT activity increased when exposed to pollutants. Therefore, it is deduced that the significant increase of GOT and GPT activities in hemolymph of Pacific oysters was due to tissue damage by pollutants (Pickwell and Steinert, 1988).

In this study, cell damage was caused by extreme oxidative stress induced by a large quantity of ROS generation in *C. gigas* when exposed to Cd and TBT. The expression of Mn-SOD mRNA as an antioxidant mechanism increased in order to protect cells from oxidative stress and to help eliminate the oxidative stress. Therefore, Mn-SOD mRNA expression, hemolymph H_2O_2 concentration, GOT and GPT activities can be used as physiological markers to determine the degree of stress in Pacific oysters. Because study of Mn-SOD expression and oxidative stress was hardly reported, need more studies about this.

References

- Anderson, R.S., Brubacher, L.L., Ragone Calvo, L.M., Burreson, E.M., Unger, M.A., 1997. Effect of in vitro exposure to tributyltin on generation of oxygen metabolites by oyster hemocytes. Environ. Res. 74, 84-90.
- Bebianno, M.J., Geret, F., Hoarau, P., Serafim, M.A., Coelho, M.R., Gnassia-Barelli, M., 2004. Biomarkers in *Ruditapes decussatus*: a potential bioindicator species. Biomarkers 9, 305-330.
- Benavides, M.P., Gallego, S.M., Tomaro, M.L., 2005. Cadmium toxicity in plants. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 17, 21-34.
- Boutet, I., Tanguy, A., Moraga, D., 2004. Response of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* to hydrocarbone contamination under experimental conditions. Gene 329, 147-157.
- Casillas, E., Sundquist, J., Ames, W.E., 1982. Optimization of assay conditions for, and the selected tissue distribution of, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase of English sole, *Parophrys vetulus* Girard. J. Fish Biol. 21, 197-204.
- Chen, M., Yang, H., Delaporte, M., Zhao, S., 2007. Immune condition of *Chlamys farreri* in response to acute temperature challenge. Aquaculture 271, 479-487.
- Cho, S.K., Min, E.Y., Jee, J.H., Kim, J.W., Ahn, C.M., Kang, J.C., 2001. Changes of inorganic matter and enzyme activity in the hemolymph of oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* exposed to TBTO. J. Fish. Pathol. 14, 65-70.
- Cho, U.H., Seo, N.H., 2005. Oxidative stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana* exposed to cadmium is due to hydrogen peroxide accumulation. Plant. Sci. 168, 113-120.
- Choi, C.Y., An, K.W., Nelson, E.R., Habibi, H.R., 2007. Cadmium affects the expression of metallothionein (MT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) mRNA in goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 145, 595-600.
- Choi, Y.K., Jo, P.G., Choi, C.Y., 2008. Cadmium affects the expression of heat shock

protein 90 and metallothionein mRNA in the Pacific oyster, Crassstrea gigas. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 147, 286-292.

- Fink, R.C., Scandalios, J.G., 2002. Molecular evolution and stucture-function relationships of the superoxide dismutase gene families in angiosperms and their relationship to other eukaryotic and prokaryotic superoxide dismutases. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 399, 19-36.
- Fridovich, I., 1975. Superoxide dismutases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 44, 147-159.
- Fukuhara, R., Tezuka, T., Kageyama, T., 2002. Structure, molecular evolution, and expression of primate superoxide dismutases. Gene 296, 99-109.
- Funes, V., Alhama, J., Navas, J.I., Lopez-Barea, J., Peinado, J., 2005. Ecotoxicological effects of metal pollution in two mollusk species from the Spanish South Atlantic littoral. Environ. Pollution 139, 214-223.
- Gagnaire, B., Frouin, H., Moreau, K., Thomas-Guyon, H., Renault, T., 2006. Effect of temperature and salinity on haemocyte activities of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea* gigas (Thunberg). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 10, 387-391.
- Gonzalez, M., Romestand, B., Fievet, J., Huvet, A., Lebart, M.C., Gueguen, Y., 2005. Evidence in oyster of a plasma extracellular superoxide dismutase which binds LPS. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 338, 1089-1097.
- His, R.B., Seaman, M.N., Pagano, G., Trieff, N.M., 1996. Sublethal and lethal toxicity of aluminum, industry effluents to early developmental stages of the *Crassostrea gigas* oyster. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30, 335-339.
- Hall, T.A., 1999. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucl. Acids. Symp. Ser. 41, 95-98.
- Jackson, S.M., Cooper, J.B., 1998. An analysis of structureal similarity in the iron and manganese superoxide dismutase based on known structure and sequence. Biometals 11, 159-173.

- Kim, K.Y., Lee, S.Y., Cho, Y.S., Bang, I.C., Kim, K.H., Kim, D.S., Kim, H.K., Kim, D.S., Nam, Y.K., 2007. Molecular characterization and mRNA expression during metal exposure and thermal stress of copper/zinc- and manganese- superoxide dismutases in disk abalone, *Haliotis discus discus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 23, 1043-1059.
- Kim, M.O., Phyllis, E.B., 1998. Oxidative stress in critical care: is antioxidant supplementation beneficial? J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 98, 1001-1008.
- Lee, K.J., Lee, J.B., 2003. Tributyltin induces apoptosis in R2C via oxidative stress and caspase-3 activation by disturbance of Ca²⁺. Korean J. Environ. Biol. 21, 303-207.
- Legeay, A., Achard-Joris, M., Baudrimont, M., Massabuau, J.C., Bourdineaud, J.P., 2005. Impact of cadmium contamination and oxygenation levels on biochemical responses in the Asiatic clam *Corbicula fluminea*. Aquat. Toxicol. 74, 242-253.
- Monari, M., Matozzo, V., Foschi, J., Marin, M.G., Cattani, O., 2005. Exposure to anoxia of the clam, *Chamelea gallina* II: Modulation of superoxide dismutase activity and expression in haemocytes. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 325, 175-188.
- Mruk, D.D., Silverstrini, B., Mo, M., Chenga, C.Y., 2002. Antioxidant superoxide dismutase
 a review: its function, regulation in the testis, and role in male fertility. Contraception 65, 305-311.
- Murugavel, P., Pari, L., Sitasawad, S.L., Kumar, S., Kumar, S., 2007. Cadmium induced mitochondrial injury and apoptosis in vero cells: Protective effect of diallyl tetrasufide from garlic. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 39, 161-170.
- Nouroozzadeh, J., Tajaddinisarmadi, J., Wolff, S.P., 1994. Measurement of plasma hydroperoxide concentrations by ferrous oxidation-xylenol orange assay in conjunction with triphenylphosphine. Anal. Biochem. 200, 403-409.
- Pickwell, G.V., Steinert, S.A., 1988. Accumulation and effect of organotin compounds in oysters and mussels: correlation with serum biochemical and cytological factors and tissue burdens. Mar. Environ. Res. 24, 215-218.

- Rudneva, I.I., 1999. Antioxidant system if Black Sea animals in early development. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 112, 265-271.
- Saitou, N., Nei, M., 1987. The neightor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol. Biol. Evol. 4, 406-425.
- Stohs, S.J., Bagchi, D., Hassoun, E., Bagchi, M., 2000. Oxidative mechanisms in the toxicity of chromium and cadmium ions. J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol. 19, 201-213.
- Wang, Y., Fang, J., Leonard, S.S., Rao, K.M.K., 2004. Cadmium inhibits the electron transfer chain and induces Reactive Oxygen Species. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 36, 1434-1443.
- Xue, Q., Tristan, R., 2000. Enzymatic activities in European flat oyster, Ostrea edulis, and Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas, hemolymph. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 76, 155-163.
- Zelck, U.E., Janje, B., Schneider, O., 2005. Superoxide dismutase expression and H₂O₂ production by hemocytes of the trematode intermediate host *Lymnaea stagnalis* (Gastropoda). Dev. Comp. Immunol. 29, 305-314.
- Zelko, I,N., Mariani, T.J., Folz, R.J., 2002. Superoxide dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2), and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution, and expression. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 33, 337-349.
- Zhang, J.F., Wang, X.R., Guo, H.Y., Wu, J.C., Xue, Y.Q., 2004. Effects of watersoluble fractions of diesel oil on the antioxidant defenses of the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 58, 110-116.

IV. Conclusion

A large quantity of ROS generation caused by Cd toxicity accumulated in Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* exposed to Cd. Excessive production of ROS induces oxidative stress and cellular damage and imbalance as well as denaturation or obstruction of enzyme activities.

The expression of HSP90, MT and Mn-SOD mRNA increased in order to maintain homeostasis, to protect cells from oxidative stress and to help eliminate the oxidative stress. Considering the increase in GOT and GPT in the hemolymph, cell damage occurred because of the loss of detoxification ability in Pacific oyster due to excess oxidative stress caused by the accumulation of Cd beyond a specific tolerance, were deduced.

Therefore, HSP90, MT and Mn-SOD mRNA expression, hemolymph H_2O_2 concentration and GOT and GPT activities can be used as physiological markers to determine for oxidative stress by heavy metals such as Cd contamination in Pacific oyster.

V. Acknowledgements

아무것도 모르고 호기심으로 시작한 공부가 이렇게 결실을 맺게 되었습니다. 많은 분들의 지도와 격려가 없었다면 시작조차 할 수 없었을 것입니다. 이자리 를 빌어 진심으로 감사의 말씀을 전해드리고 싶습니다.

항상 모자란 저에게 분자생물학의 학문적 기틀을 잡아주시고 소상한 가르침 과 인생의 바른길을 찾을 수 있도록 도와주신 최철영 교수님께 깊은 감사를 드 립니다. 심사를 맡아주시고 많은 조언과 가르침을 주신 조성환 교수님, 박인석 교수님께 감사드립니다. 또한 학부 및 대학원 과정동안 학문적 지식을 넓여 주 신 해양환경생명과학부의 강효진 교수님, 노일 교수님, 서영환 교수님, 안종웅 교수님, 이호진 교수님, 이경은 교수님, 임선영 교수님께 감사드립니다.

늘 가족같이 함께 노력하고 자기 일처럼 실험을 도와준 해양분자생물공학 연 구실의 안광욱, 신현숙, 안명인님과 참굴에 관한 지식과 힘들 때마다 많은 조언 과 격려을 주신 조필규 박사님께 감사드립니다. 항상 관심과 격려를 주신 민병 화 박사님에게도 감사드립니다. 학부생 때부터 항상 함께 지내오며 많은 힘이 되어준 김영진, 김충일, 박민욱 군에게 고마움을 전합니다.

끝으로 항상 저를 염려해 주시고 무한한 사랑과 믿음을 배풀어 주신 아버지 와 어머니께 이 논문을 바치며, 늘 건강하시기를 기원합니다. 또한 형 잘되기를 항상 기대하는 동생에게 감사의 말을 전합니다.

도와주신 많은 분들께 항상 감사의 마음을 가지고 항상 노력하며 성실한 사 람이 되겠습니다.

2008년 12월

해양분자생물공학연구실 N-217호에서

최용기

VI. References

- Ackerman, P.A., Iwama, G.K., 2001. Physiological and cellular stress responses of juvenile rainbow trout to Vibriosis. J. Aquat. Anim. Health 13, 174-180.
- Anderson, R.S., Brubacher, L.L., Ragone Calvo, L.M., Burreson, E.M., Unger, M.A., 1997. Effect of in vitro exposure to tributyltin on generation of oxygen metabolites by oyster hemocytes. Environ. Res. 74, 84-90.
- Bagchi, D., Bhattacharya, G., Stohs, S.J., 1996. In vitro and in vivo induction of heat shock (stress) protein (Hsp) gene expression by selected pesticides. Toxicology 112, 57-68.
- Bebianno, M.J., Geret, F., Hoarau, P., Serafim, M.A., Coelho, M.R., Gnassia-Barelli, M., 2004. Biomarkers in *Ruditapes decussatus*: a potential bioindicator species. Biomarkers 9, 305-330.
- Beckmann, R.P., Mizzen, L.E., Welch, W.J., 1990. Interaction of HSP70 with newly synthesized proteins: implications for protein folding and assembly. Science 248, 850-854.
- Benavides, M.P., Gallego, S.M., Tomaro, M.L., 2005. Cadmium toxicity in plants. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 17, 21-34.
- Boutet, I., Tanguy, A., Moraga, D., 2004. Response of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* to hydrocarbone contamination under experimental conditions. Gene 329, 147-157.
- Butler, R.A., Roesijadi, G., 2001. Disruption of metallothionein expression with antisense oligonucleotides abolishes protection against cadmium cytotoxicity in molluscan hemocytes. Toxicol. Sci. 59, 101-107.
- Casillas, E., Sundquist, J., Ames, W.E., 1982. Optimization of assay conditions for, and the selected tissue distribution of, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase of English sole, *Parophrys vetulus* Girard. J. Fish Biol. 21, 197-204.

- Chen, M., Yang, H., Delaporte, M., Zhao, S., 2007. Immune condition of *Chlamys farreri* in response to acute temperature challenge. Aquaculture 271, 479-487.
- Cho, S.K., Min, E.Y., Jee, J.H., Kim, J.W., Ahn, C.M., Kang, J.C., 2001. Changes of inorganic matter and enzyme activity in the hemolymph of oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* exposed to TBTO. J. Fish. Pathol. 14, 65-70.
- Cho, U.H., Seo, N.H., 2005. Oxidative stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana* exposed to cadmium is due to hydrogen peroxide accumulation. Plant. Sci. 168, 113-120.
- Choi, C.Y., Min, B.H., Kim, N.N., Cho, S.H., Chang, Y.J., 2006. Expression of HSP90, HSP70 mRNA and change of plasma cortisol and glucose during water temperature rising in freshwater adapted black porgy, *Acanthopagrus schlegeli*. J. Aquac. 19, 315-322.
- Choi, C.Y., An, K.W., Nelson, E.R., Habibi, H.R., 2007. Cadmium affects the expression of metallothionein (MT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) mRNA in goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 145, 595-600.
- Choi, Y.K., Jo, P.G., Choi, C.Y., 2008. Cadmium affects the expression of heat shock protein 90 and metallothionein mRNA in the Pacific oyster, *Crassstrea gigas*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 147, 286-292.
- Csermely, P., Schnaider, T., Soti, C., Prohaszka, Z., Nardai, G., 1998. The 90- kDa molecular chaperone family: structure, function, and clinical applications. A comprehensive review. Pharmacol. Ther. 79, 129-168.
- de la Torre, F.R., Salibian, A., Ferrari, L., 1999. Enzyme activities as biomakers of freshwater pollution: responses of fish branchial (Na+K+)-ATPase and liver transaminases. Environ. Toxicol. 12, 313-319.
- Engel, D.W., 1999. Accumulation and cytosolic partitioning of metals in the American oyser *Crassostrea virginica*. Mar. Environ. Res. 47, 89-102.
- Fink, R.C., Scandalios, J.G., 2002. Molecular evolution and stucture-function relationships of

the superoxide dismutase gene families in angiosperms and their relationship to other eukaryotic and prokaryotic superoxide dismutases. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 399, 19-36.

Fridovich, I., 1975. Superoxide dismutases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 44, 147-159.

- Fukuhara, R., Tezuka, T., Kageyama, T., 2002. Structure, molecular evolution, and expression of primate superoxide dismutases. Gene 296, 99-109.
- Funes, V., Alhama, J., Navas, J.I., Lopez-Barea, J., Peinado, J., 2005. Ecotoxicological effects of metal pollution in two mollusk species from the Spanish South Atlantic littoral. Environ. Pollution 139, 214-223.
- Gagnaire, B., Frouin, H., Moreau, K., Thomas-Guyon, H., Renault, T., 2006. Effect of temperature and salinity on haemocyte activities of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea* gigas (Thunberg). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 10, 387-391.
- Gao, Q., Song, L., Ni, D.,Wu, L., Zhang, H., Chang, Y., 2007. cDNA cloning and mRNA expression of heat shock protein 90 gene in the haemocytes of Zhikong scallop *Chlamys farreri*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B 147, 704-715.
- Gonzalez, M., Romestand, B., Fievet, J., Huvet, A., Lebart, M.C., Gueguen, Y., 2005.Evidence in oyster of a plasma extracellular superoxide dismutase which binds LPS.Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 338, 1089-1097.
- Gupta, R.S., 1995. Phylogenetic analysis of the 90 kD heat shock family of protein sequence and an examination of the relationship among animals, plants and fungi species. Mol. Biol. Evol. 12, 1063-1073.
- Hermesz, E., Abraham, M., Nemcsok, J., 2001. Identification of two hsp90 genes in carp. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 129, 397-407.
- His, R.B., Seaman, M.N., Pagano, G., Trieff, N.M., 1996. Sublethal and lethal toxicity of aluminum, industry effluents to early developmental stages of the *Crassostrea gigas* oyster. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30, 335-339.

- Hall, T.A., 1999. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucl. Acids. Symp. Ser. 41, 95-98.
- Jackson, S.M., Cooper, J.B., 1998. An analysis of structureal similarity in the iron and manganese superoxide dismutase based on known structure and sequence. Biometals 11, 159-173.
- Kim, K.Y., Lee, S.Y., Cho, Y.S., Bang, I.C., Kim, K.H., Kim, D.S., Kim, H.K., Kim, D.S., Nam, Y.K., 2007. Molecular characterization and mRNA expression during metal exposure and thermal stress of copper/zinc- and manganese- superoxide dismutases in disk abalone, *Haliotis discus discus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 23, 1043-1059.
- Kim, M.O., Phyllis, E.B., 1998. Oxidative stress in critical care: is antioxidant supplementation beneficial? J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 98, 1001-1008.
- Kim, S.G., Jee, J.H., Kang, J.C., 2004. Cadmium accumulation and elimination in tissues of juvenile olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* after subchronic cadmium exposure. Environ. Pollut. 127, 117-123.
- Kobayashi, J., 1971. Relation between Itai-Itai disease and the pollution of river water by cadmium from mine. In: Jenkins, S.H. (Ed.), Advances in Water Pollution Research 1970, vol. 1. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp. 1-25.
- Lai, B.T., Chin, N.W., Stranek, A.E., Keh, W., Lanks, K.W., 1984. Quantitation and intracellular localization of the 85 k heat shock protein by using monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies. Mol. Cell. Biol. 4, 2802-2810.
- Lee, K.J., Lee, J.B., 2003. Tributyltin induces apoptosis in R2C via oxidative stress and caspase-3 activation by disturbance of Ca²⁺. Korean J. Environ. Biol. 21, 303-207.
- Legeay, A., Achard-Joris, M., Baudrimont, M., Massabuau, J.C., Bourdineaud, J.P., 2005. Impact of cadmium contamination and oxygenation levels on biochemical responses in the Asiatic clam *Corbicula fluminea*. Aquat. Toxicol. 74, 242-253.
- Moraga, D., Meistertzheim, A., Tanguy-Royer, S., Boutet, I., Tanguy, A., Donval, A., 2005.

Stress response in Cu^{2+} and Cd^{2+} exposed oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*): an immunohistochemical approach. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 141, 151-156.

- Monari, M., Matozzo, V., Foschi, J., Marin, M.G., Cattani, O., 2005. Exposure to anoxia of the clam, *Chamelea gallina* II: Modulation of superoxide dismutase activity and expression in haemocytes. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 325, 175-188.
- Mruk, D.D., Silverstrini, B., Mo, M., Chenga, C.Y., 2002. Antioxidant superoxide dismutase
 a review: its function, regulation in the testis, and role in male fertility. Contraception 65, 305-311.
- Murugavel, P., Pari, L., Sitasawad, S.L., Kumar, S., Kumar, S., 2007. Cadmium induced mitochondrial injury and apoptosis in vero cells: Protective effect of diallyl tetrasufide from garlic. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 39, 161-170.
- Nouroozzadeh, J., Tajaddinisarmadi, J., Wolff, S.P., 1994. Measurement of plasma hydroperoxide concentrations by ferrous oxidation-xylenol orange assay in conjunction with triphenylphosphine. Anal. Biochem. 200, 403-409.
- Oruc, E.O., Uner, N., 1998. Effects of azinphosmethyl on some biochemical parameters in blood, muscle, and liver tissues of *Cyprinus carpio* (L.). Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 62, 65-71.
- Philip, S.R., 1995. Biomonitoring of heavy metal availability in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 31, 183-192.
- Pickwell, G.V., Steinert, S.A., 1988. Accumulation and effect of organotin compounds in oysters and mussels: correlation with serum biochemical and cytological factors and tissue burdens. Mar. Environ. Res. 24, 215-218.
- Pratt, W.B., 1997. The role of the hsp90-based chaperone system in signal transduction by nuclear receptors and receptors signaling via MAP kinase. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 37, 297-326.
- Rainbow, P.S., White, S.L., 1989. Comparative strategies of heavy metal accumulation of

Zn, Cu and Cd by crabs and brancles. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 21, 669-686.

- Rebeblo, M.F., Pfeiffer, W.C., da Silva Jr., H., Moraes, M.O., 2003. Cloning and detection of metallothionein mRNA by RT-PCR in mangrove oysters (*Crassostrea rhizophorae*). Aquat. Toxicol. 64, 359-362.
- Rudneva, I.I., 1999. Antioxidant system if Black Sea animals in early development. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C 112, 265-271.
- Sakamoto, S., Yone, Y., 1978. Effect of starvation on hematological characteristics, and activities of enzymes in blood serum of red sea bream. J. Fac. Agric., Kyushu Univ. 23, 63-69.
- Saitou, N., Nei, M., 1987. The neightor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol. Biol. Evol. 4, 406-425.
- Sanders, B.M., 1993. Stress protein in aquatic organisms: an environmental perspective. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 23, 49-75.
- Sastry, K.V., Subhadra, K., 1982. Effect of cadmium in some aspects of carbohydrate metabolism in a freshwater catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis*. Toxicol. Lett. 14, 81-114.

ABITIME

- Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S.,Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., Hartl, F.U., Moarefi, I., 2000. Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. Cell 101, 199-210.
- Snyder, M.J., Girvetz, E., Mulder, E.P., 2001. Induction of marine mollusc stress proteins by chemical or physical stress. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 41, 22-29.
- Stohs, S.J., Bagchi, D., Hassoun, E., Bagchi, M., 2000. Oxidative mechanisms in the toxicity of chromium and cadmium ions. J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol. 19, 201-213.
- Unger, M.E., Roesijadi, G., 1993. Sensitive assay for molluscan metallothionein induction based on ribonuclease protection and molecular titration of metallothionein and actin mRNAs. Mol. Mar. Biol. Biotechnol. 2, 319-324.

- Vaglio, A., Landriscina, C., 1999. Changes in liver enzyme activity in the teleost *Sparus aurata* in response to cadmium intoxication. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 43, 111-116.
- Viarengo, A., Burlando, B., Cavaletto, M., Marchi, B., Ponzano, E., Blasco, J., 1999. Role of metallothionein against oxidative stress in the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Am. J. Physiol. 277, 1612-1619.
- Wang, Y., Fang, J., Leonard, S.S., Rao, K.M.K., 2004. Cadmium inhibits the electron transfer chain and induces Reactive Oxygen Species. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 36, 1434-1443.
- Woo, S., Yun, S., Jung, J.H., Shim, W.J., Lee, C.H., Lee, T.K., 2006. Heavy metal-induced differential gene expression of metallothionein in Javanese Medaka, *Oryzias javanicus*. Mar. Biotechnol. 8, 654-662.
- Xue, Q., Tristan, R., 2000. Enzymatic activities in European flat oyster, *Ostrea edulis*, and Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, hemolymph. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 76, 155-163.
- Zelck, U.E., Janje, B., Schneider, O., 2005. Superoxide dismutase expression and H₂O₂ production by hemocytes of the trematode intermediate host *Lymnaea stagnalis* (Gastropoda). Dev. Comp. Immunol. 29, 305-314.
- Zelko, I,N., Mariani, T.J., Folz, R.J., 2002. Superoxide dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2), and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution, and expression. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 33, 337-349.
- Zhang, J.F., Wang, X.R., Guo, H.Y., Wu, J.C., Xue, Y.Q., 2004. Effects of watersoluble fractions of diesel oil on the antioxidant defenses of the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 58, 110-116.